

University of Vermont ScholarWorks @ UVM

Graduate College Dissertations and Theses

Dissertations and Theses

9-12-2007

Understory Plant Responses to Uneven-Aged Forestry

Kimberly J. Smith University of Vermont

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarworks.uvm.edu/graddis

Recommended Citation

Smith, Kimberly J., "Understory Plant Responses to Uneven-Aged Forestry" (2007). *Graduate College Dissertations and Theses*. Paper 216.

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Dissertations and Theses at ScholarWorks @ UVM. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate College Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ UVM. For more information, please contact donna.omalley@uvm.edu.

UNDERSTORY PLANT RESPONSES TO UNEVEN-AGED FORESTRY ALTERNATIVES IN NORTHERN HARDWOOD-CONIFER FORESTS

A Thesis Presented

by

Kimberly J. Smith

to

The Faculty of the Graduate College

of

The University of Vermont

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science Specializing in Natural Resources

October, 2007

Accepted by the Faculty of the Graduate College, The University of Vermont, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, specializing in Nutrition and Food Sciences.

Thesis Examination Committee:

Advisor

Stephen J. Pintauro, Ph.D.

Berlin, Ph

Chairperson Penny Bishop, Ed Vice President for Frances E. Carr, Ph.D. **Research and Dean of Graduate Studies**

Date: July 3, 2007

Accepted by the Faculty of the Graduate College, The University of Vermont, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, specializing in Natural Resources.

Thesis examination committee:

Advisor William S. Keeton, Ph.D.

Mark J. Twery, Ph.D.

Catherine A. Paris, Ph.D. Chairperson

Vice President for Research Frances E. Carr, Ph.D. and Dean of Graduate Studies

Date: May 30, 2007

Abstract

In northern hardwood-conifer forests, alternatives to conventional forest management practices are being developed in order to maintain biodiversity and ecosystem functioning while providing for timber revenue generation. The understory layer of vegetation encompasses the majority of plant species diversity in forested ecosystems and may be sensitive to timber harvest disturbance. Thus, monitoring the response of forest understories to new silvicultural techniques may provide a means for evaluating their intensity. In this study, we hypothesize that i) uneven-aged, low-intensity silvicultural systems can maintain understory plant diversity and support latesuccessional species through harvest disturbance; ii) retaining and enhancing stand structural complexity can increase understory plant diversity in northern hardwoodconifer forests; and iii) plant responses are influenced by interactions between canopy structure, soils, and exogenous climate processes. Experimental treatments include two conventional uneven-aged prescriptions (single-tree selection and group selection) modified to increase structural retention, and a third technique designed to promote late-successional forest structure and function, termed structural complexity enhancement (SCE). Four replications of each treatment were applied to 2 ha management units at three sites in Vermont and New York, U.S.A. Understory vegetation was monitored over 2 years pre- and 4 years post-treatment. We used a linear mixed effects model to evaluate the effects of treatment, soil properties, and drought stress on understory diversity and abundance. Compositional changes among treatments were assessed with non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMS), an ordination technique. Model results show that over time, understory responses were strongly affected by overstory treatment and less influenced by soil chemistry and drought stress. All treatments were successful in maintaining overall composition and diversity. However, late-successional diversity increased significantly in SCE units compared to group selection units. These results indicate that while conventional uneven-aged systems are capable of maintaining understory plant diversity, variations that retain or enhance structural complexity may be more efficient at retaining latesuccessional species. Increased microsite heterogeneity as a result of these techniques may also increase understory plant diversity, at least during the initial post-harvest recovery period.

Acknowledgements

I am extremely grateful to my graduate committee, including my advisor Bill Keeton, Mark Twery, and Cathy Paris, for lending their knowledge and ideas to this project. Don Tobi provided information on the soil data collection and analysis. Alan Howard of the University of Vermont's Academic Computing Services and Ruth Mickey from the statistics department provided assistance with statistical analyses. The forestry field crews of 2001-2006 deserve recognition for their long hours of data collection in the field. The USDA Forest Service Northern Research Station provided data and Charlotte Jasko assisted with data entry and quality control. I would also like to extend my gratitude to Traynor Biasiolli, my family and friends, for their endless patience, support and encouragement. Funding for this research was provided by the Vermont Monitoring Cooperative, the USDA McIntire-Stennis Forest Research Program, the USDA CSREES National Research Initiative and the Northeastern States Research Cooperative.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Chapter 1. Comprehensive Literature Review	1
 Disturbance and the successional dynamics of forest understories Forest management practices: Conventional silvicultural systems and propos alternatives	1 ed 7
 4. The Vermont Forest Ecosystem Management Demonstration Project (FEMDP)	11
Chapter 2. Understory plant responses to alternative forestry practices in northern hardwood-conifer forests	19
Abstract	19
1. Introduction	19
2. Methods	24
2.1. Study Areas	24
2.2. Experimental Design	25
2.3. Data Collection	28
2.4. Data Analysis	30
2.4.1. Understory responses	30
2.4.2. Analyses of treatment effects	31
2.4.5. Sub-analysis of overstory structure and soll properties	33
2.4.4. Analysis of Moisture stress	33
3. Results	30
3.2 Effect of overstory structure and soil properties	30
3.3 Effect of climate variability	
4 Discussion	40
4.1 Understory plant responses to experimental treatments	40
4.1.1. General responses	40
4.1.2. Response of habitat guilds	41
4.1.3. Local extirpations	43
4.2. Influence of overstory structure and soil properties	45
4.3. Effect of Drought Stress	48
5. Management Implications	50
6. Conclusions	52
Acknowledgements	53
Literature Cited	54
Comprehensive Bibliography	75

List of Tables

Table 1. Diversity and abundance response variables by treatment for all species and for habitat guilds. Diversity response variables include species richness (N ₀), the exponential Shannon diversity index (N ₁), and the reciprocal Simpson index (N ₂). Abundance is expressed as percent cover. Treatments include group selection (GS), single-tree selection (STS), structural complexity enhancement (SCE) and untreated controls (CON). Values expressed are treatment means (± 1 SE) for one year before harvest (pre) and three years after harvest (post). Sample sizes are control: n = 8; SCE, GS, and STS: n = 4
Table 2. Linear mixed effects model results for diversity indices (N0, N1, and N2) and percent cover for all species and by habitat guilds
Table 3. ANOVA results of changes in diversity and abundance response variables for all species and for habitat guilds from one year pre-harvest to three years post-harvest. Treatment types include group selection (GS), single-tree selection (STS), structural complexity enhancement (SCE), and untreated controls (CON).68
Table 4. Understory species recorded pre-harvest and absent post-harvest. X indicates the species was absent from two or more units of this treatment type for all four post-harvest years. Treatment types include group selection (GS), single-tree selection (STS), structural complexity enhancement (SCE), and untreated controls (CON). Life history characteristics were determined from Gleason and Cronquist (1991), Handel et al. (1981), and Mabry et al. (2000)
Table 5. Kendall's tau correlations (τ) between the ordination axes and site variables. The pre-harvest ordination included data from 1 year before harvest and the post-harvest ordination contained data from 3 years after harvest. Bold values indicate a significant correlation at P < 0.0570

v

List of Figures

Figure 1. Relationship of species composition to forest structure and soil variables using nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMS): a) pre- treatment (% of variation in species data: Axis $1 = 44.8$; Axis $2 = 33.2$), and b) post-treatment (% of variation in species data: Axis $1 = 38.2$; Axis $2 = 25.1$)
Figure 2. Change in treatment means of overall a) species richness (N_0) , b) the exponential Shannon diversity index (N_1) , c) the reciprocal Simpson's diversity index (N_2) and d) percent cover from one year pre-harvest to four years post-harvest. Data is normalized to one year pre-harvest. Year 3 is used as post-harvest in ANOVAs. Sample sizes are control: n = 8 for all years; SCE: n = 4 for all years; GS and STS: n = 4 for years -1 through 3, n = 2 for year 4.
Figure 3. Change in treatment means of late-successional a) species richness (N_0) , b) the exponential Shannon diversity index (N_1) , c) the reciprocal Simpson's diversity index (N_2) and d) percent cover from one year pre- harvest to four years post-harvest. Data is normalized to one year pre- harvest. Year 3 is used as post-harvest in ANOVAs. Sample sizes are control: n = 8 for all years; SCE: n = 4 for all years; GS and STS: n = 4 for years -1 through 3, n = 2 for year 4
Figure 4. Fluctuations in the Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) in the Vermont (VT) and New York (NY) study areas from three years pre- harvest to four years post-harvest

Chapter 1. Comprehensive Literature Review

Understory plant communities are a species-rich component of forest ecosystems that contribute to ecosystem functioning and support higher trophic levels. Therefore, understanding the response of forest understories to silvicultural disturbance can help guide management strategies that aim to maintain ecological integrity. This study examines understory plant responses to alternative, uneven-aged forestry practices in northern hardwood-conifer forests. Three major themes are integrated in this research: disturbance and the successional dynamics of forest understories, conventional and alternative silvicultural systems, and understory responses to forest management practices. This comprehensive literature review discusses the current understanding of these topics within the scientific community, and provides a brief overview of an experimental research program called the Vermont Forest Ecosystem Management Demonstration Project (FEMDP).

1. Disturbance and the successional dynamics of forest understories

There are many theories on the mechanisms driving succession and how plant assemblages respond to and reorganize following disturbance. One of the earliest theories was the community concept, which described the plant community as a complex organism and succession as a temporal sequence of communities culminating in a climax assemblage for a given climatic region (Clements 1916). The community concept was challenged by the individualistic plant species concept, which proposed that plants respond independently to their surroundings and their co-occurrence is

coincidental (Gleason 1917). Building upon this idea, Egler (1954) defined the initial floristics model of succession, whereby individual species can arrive, colonize, and assume dominance at any time following disturbance. Connell and Slatyer (1977) later described inhibition, facilitation, and tolerance as the important forces driving successional change, while Tilman (1988) argued that long-term successional dynamics were controlled by differences in species' responses to multiple resources such as soil nutrients, moisture, and light.

Recent studies examining different aspects of these theories on succession have revealed complex patterns, feedbacks, and interactions that influence postdisturbance plant community composition (Halpern 1988; Tilman 1988; Halpern 1989; Berger and Puettmann 2000; Marby et al. 2000; Roberts 2004). Many of these models stress the controlling influence of natural disturbance regimes (Franklin et al. 2002). For example, succession is influenced by the type, frequency, intensity, and size of disturbance (White and Pickett 1985). These factors determine the severity and extent of canopy, understory, and forest floor that is removed or disturbed and subsequently, how the understory vegetation responds. Roberts (2004) defined eight factors that may influence understory response to natural disturbance, depending on the degree to which forest strata are disturbed. These include: 1) competition with higher strata, 2) competition within the herb layer, 3) microclimate, 4) coarse woody debris substrate, 5) pits and mounds, 6) mineral soil substrates, 7) damage to preexisting plants, and 8) propagule availability. The relative importance of these eight response factors changes over time. In the initial stages of succession, direct effects of

the disturbance such as physical damage to plants and soil disturbance are likely to have the greatest influence on understory composition. Over the long-term, indirect effects of stand structure, microclimate, and propagule availability may become more important (Halpern and Spies 1995).

Post-disturbance vegetation dynamics are influenced by the plant strategies, life history traits, and functional characteristics of residual and colonizing species (Halpern 1989). Plant strategies are the evolutionarily developed patterns of response to the elements of the environment encountered in a plant's habitat (Bazzaz 1996). The r-K continuum described by MacArthur and Wilson (1967) identified r-strategists, species that occupy disturbed habitats, and K-strategists, density-dependent species that persist longer. In the classification scheme of Grime (1977), species are identified as competitor, stress-tolerant, and ruderal according to their ability to deal with varying levels of stress and disturbance. Disturbance response has also been linked to specific life history or functional characteristics, including life forms (Raunkiaer 1934), vital attributes (Noble and Slatyer 1980), functional types (Smith et al. 1997) and life-history traits (McIntyre et al. 1995). These characteristics influence a plant's ability to compete and reestablish following disturbance, and are commonly used to model forest succession (Bazzaz 1996).

Plant species composition and diversity are also controlled at broad scales by abiotic factors such as climate, elevation, topography, light, and soil resources (Leach and Givnish 1999) and with soil resource gradients, overstory characteristics, and microtopographic features at fine scales (Beatty 1984; Gilliam 2002). By altering

abiotic factors, disturbance can indirectly influence composition and distribution of understory plants. For example, disturbances that uproot trees can create a complex pit and mound topography, and provide microhabitats for certain plant species by exposing large amounts of mineral soil and coarse woody debris substrate (Beatty 1984). Overstory removal can change the microclimate of a site, typically causing increases in solar radiation, mean temperature and temperature fluctuations, and decreases in relative humidity and moisture on the forest floor (Collins et al. 1985). The heterogeneity of light and coarse woody debris that develops later in succession has also been linked to spatial patterns of understory species (Scheller and Mladenoff 2002).

Studies have shown that nutrient availability can influence plant heterogeneity (Hutchinson et al. 1999; Fraterrigo et al. 2006). For example, soil cation concentrations, particularly calcium, have been shown to control spatial distributions of understory plants (Gilliam and Turrell 1993; Kolb and Diekmann 2004; Graves et al. 2006), and plant growth is commonly limited by availability of nitrogen and phosphorus (Marschner 1995). Disturbances can alter soil nutrient availability, although the intensity and duration of these changes vary with the soil and forest type, as well as the type of disturbance (Grigal 2000). For example, disturbances that result in high organic matter inputs can lead to local increases in soil nutrient availability. In contrast, a decrease in soil nutrients is often the result of disturbances that remove biomass and disturb forest soils (Johnson et al. 1997; Elliott and Knoepp 2005).

elimination of overstory competition can also temporarily increase the availability of these nutrients (and light) to understory vegetation (Roberts 2004), resulting in increased productivity and diversity.

Calcium is one of the elements most susceptible to depletion following timber harvesting because of its high concentration in tree wood and bark (Schaberg et al. 2001). In contrast, nitrogen supply to plants increases greatly following disturbance, and then may continue at low levels throughout succession (Matson and Vitousek 1981; Robertson and Vitousek 1981). Net nitrification and mineralization can increase following forest harvesting, leading to elevated concentrations of ammonium and nitrate, but also potential for overall nitrogen loss through leaching (Bormann et al. 1977). Later in succession, accumulated organic matter can increase the ability of the soil to hold moisture and retain soil nutrients important to understory plants (Bazzaz 1996).

The influence of soil nutrient availability on understory plant communities may change along successional gradients. For example, Gilliam et al. (1995) observed that herb layer development was linked with soil characteristics in early-successional forests but that it declined with stand age. In contrast, the patchy availability of soil resources, particularly nitrogen, that develops through succession has been shown to influence the abundance and pattern of understory plant species (Mladenoff 1990). Christensen and Gilliam (2003) argue that soil chemistry accounts for much of the variation in herbaceous species composition at nearly every stage of succession.

Anthropogenic land-use has also been shown to influence successional dynamics and forest stand development (McLachlan and Bazely 2001; Bellemare et al. 2002; Foster et al. 2002; Hall et al. 2002). Studies have demonstrated strong and persistent effects of historical land-use on vegetation composition and forest structure (Foster 1992; Foster et al. 1998; Fuller et al. 1998; Motzkin et al. 1999; Gerhardt and Foster 2002; Hall et al. 2002), as well as changes in the availability and heterogeneity of soil nutrients (Fraterrigo et al. 2006). In the understory, the ability and rate of forest herbs to recolonize a site is a major factor driving vegetation patterns following natural and anthropogenic disturbances. Forest herbs with limited dispersal mechanisms are well adapted for growth in stable forest ecosystems characterized by local, small-scale disturbances such as gap-phase dynamics, but are not able to rapidly recover following severe land-use changes, such as tilling for agriculture (Bellemare et al. 2002).

The wide-ranging variability in disturbance and response factors has led to the concept of multiple pathways of succession for understory communities (Noble and Slatyer 1980; Pickett et al. 1987; Halpern 1988; Inouye and Tilman 1988; Collins 1990; Frelich and Reich 1995; Bazzaz 1996; Frelich and Reich 1999). The direction of a successional pathway depends on variation in the life history characteristics of the available species and competitive relationships, as well as the timing, intensity or frequency of disturbance, the availability of species, and the local environment (Halpern 1988). Knowledge of disturbance and response factors for a specific forest

type can help forest managers predict changes in understory vegetation as a result of forest management practices.

2. Forest management practices: Conventional silvicultural systems and proposed alternatives

Conventional silvicultural systems include five standard methods used to regenerate forest stands. The scale and intensity of the disturbance generated varies considerably among these different methods. For example, clearcutting, seed tree, and shelterwood systems are relatively intensive methods that produce even-aged stands. These silvicultural treatments are often used to regenerate pioneer or earlysuccessional species, although in the northern forest region they are adapted for intermediate and shade-tolerant regeneration purposes through either patch cutting or higher levels of shelterwood retention. Clearcutting, the most severe method, involves removing all trees within a designated boundary, resulting in an area with the light and temperature regime of an open field. The seed tree method is a slight variation of the clearcut, with remnant mature trees left to provide a seed source for regeneration. The shelterwood system involves retaining a sheltering overstory to protect regenerating seedlings and saplings in addition to providing a seed source for a new cohort. Depending on the amount of overstory retained, shelterwoods are often described as two-aged systems, and can be used to regenerate mid- to late-successional species (McEvoy 2004).

In contrast, uneven-aged stands contain trees with a wide range of ages and have more than two age classes, or cohorts (Nyland 1996). Examples of uneven-

aged silvicultural systems include group selection, in which small patches (usually 0.05 to 0.25 ha) of trees are removed, and single-tree selection, in which individual trees are removed from the stand. The diversity of age structures maintained in uneven-aged systems results in a complex stand structure. For example, uneven-aged stands typically contain vertically differentiated canopies and considerable horizontal heterogeneity resulting from a mosaic of open canopy gaps and closed-canopy interior forest patches. In northern hardwood-conifer forests, uneven-aged systems more closely approximate the naturally occurring structural characteristics of unmanaged late-successional forest stands than even-aged systems (McGee et al. 1999; Seymour et al. 2002).

The recognition of the global loss of biodiversity (Wilson 1988; Ehrlich and Wilson 1991; Noss and Cooperrider 1994) has led to the development of forest management strategies that include objectives for ecological conservation. These strategies are often focused on the creation of large reserves; however, nonreserve matrix lands can also play an important role in biodiversity conservation by providing habitat, buffering reserved areas, and increasing connectivity across the landscape (Lindenmayer and Franklin 2002). Thus, the development of ecologically sustainable techniques for managing the matrix of unprotected forest land is essential to the conservation of forest biodiversity at multiple scales. A number of variations of uneven-aged stand management strategies have been proposed and variously termed green tree retention (Franklin et al. 1997), ecological silviculture (Benecke 1996), continuous cover forestry (Garfitt 1995), near-natural forestry (Benecke 1996), multi-

aged (O'Hara 1996) and multicohort (Oliver and Larson 1996) forestry. These techniques offer alternatives to conventional silvicultural systems that provide for ecological functions as well as timber productivity.

Structural enrichment (Franklin et al. 1997) or structure-based (Franklin et al. 2002; Keeton 2006) forestry is another alternative that has been proposed for the sustainable management of matrix lands. Structure-based forestry involves active management of stands to create spatial heterogeneity and specific structures that represent the different stages of stand development. The goal is to create a managed landscape with forest structures and age classes represented in densities and spatial distributions similar to those associated with natural disturbance and successional dynamics (Aplet and Keeton 1999; Franklin et al. 2002; Seymour et al. 2002). Structure-based approaches currently applied in some managed forests include structural retention, longer rotations, and active creation of structural complexity (Carey et al. 1999; Franklin et al. 2002; Keeton 2006).

Variable retention harvesting is another approach based on the concept of retaining structural elements of the harvested stand to achieve specific management objectives. This approach provides structures that support functions similar to those provided by biological legacies left by natural disturbances (Franklin et al. 2002). Specifically, variable retention harvest systems can retain species and processes through the silvicultural disturbance, enrich forest stands with structural features that would otherwise be absent, and enhance connectivity in the managed landscape. Retained structures can include live trees, snags, coarse woody debris, and intact

patches of forest floor that serve as biological legacies in the regenerating forest (Franklin et al. 1997). Structures are retained indefinitely (e.g. over multiple rotations or entry cycles), in contrast to shelterwood methods, which only retain structures until a new cohort has regenerated.

Another proposed alternative to conventional forest management is disturbance-based forestry, which involves modeling silvicultural systems after the scale, frequency, and pattern of natural disturbances (Mitchell et al. 2002; Seymour et al. 2002). In northern hardwood forests, common forms of disturbance including wind, pathogens, and insect herbivory create small canopy openings (Seymour et al. 2002). Numerous studies have investigated the size, frequency, and spatial distribution of these natural canopy gaps in hardwood-hemlock forests (Runkle 1982; Foster and Boose 1992; Kimball et al. 1995; Dahir and Lorimer 1996; Ziegler 2000; Boose et al. 2001; Seymour et al. 2002; Ziegler 2002, 2004), providing a guideline for the development of silvicultural analogues.

In addition to considering the pattern and intensity of harvesting practices, ecologically sustainable forest management practices involve mitigating the negative impacts of harvesting. This entails adopting methods that prevent soil erosion, soil compaction, and damage to residual trees. For example, careful design of the access system, choice of harvesting equipment, and the seasonality of logging can minimize the impacts of silvicultural disturbance (McEvoy 2004). The degree to which negative impacts are avoided, the specific level and pattern of retention, and the type of structural features retained can be altered depending on the forest type and the

management plan. This flexibility inherent in uneven-aged forestry alternatives enables them to encompass a broad spectrum of ecological and economic objectives.

3. Understory responses to forest management practices

Silvicultural disturbances in managed forests vary in spatial pattern, intensity, and frequency of application. Because of their sensitivity to disturbance, the response of forest understories to these variations can be a useful tool in assessing their ecological impact (Gilliam 2002). To date, research in North America has focused on evaluating understory composition and diversity following conventional treatments, including plantation forestry (Ramovs and Roberts 2005), clearcutting (Gilliam et al. 1995; Halpern and Spies 1995; Liu and Ashton 1999), fire (Halpern and Spies 1995), and thinning and fertilization (Thomas et al. 1999). In northern hardwood forests of North America, understory plant responses to opening size and age in experimental canopy gaps (Collins and Pickett 1988a, 1988b) and in even- and uneven-aged conventional silvicultural treatments (Jenkins and Parker 1999; Scheller and Mladenoff 2002) have been evaluated.

A common finding in studies of understory response is that plant communities are largely resilient to silvicultural disturbance. Studies of even-aged approaches frequently show immediate post-harvest increases in diversity (Gilliam et al. 1995; Halpern and Spies 1995), followed by return to a state similar to the pre-harvest condition (Metzger and Schultz 1984; Jenkins and Parker 1999; Ruben et al. 1999). In northern hardwood forests in Michigan, Metzger and Schultz (1984) found that composition and diversity showed the greatest change four to five years after even-

and uneven-aged harvest, whereas after 50 years, vegetation was similar to initial conditions. Similarly, Ruben et al. (1999) found substantial residual effects of clearcutting in northern hardwood forests after 25 years, but not after 60 years. However, opening size may be more important than opening age in determining species composition, as the size of the initial opening affects the rate of recovery (Collins and Pickett 1988a). For example, forest understory composition in a northern hardwood forest in Wisconsin recovered after 10 years in uneven-aged stands and after 40 years in even-aged stands (Kern et al. 2006).

Although the resiliency of forest understories has been widely reported, their sensitivity to silvicultural disturbance has also been documented. The degree of overstory removal influences availability of light and nutrients for understory plants (Palik and Engstrom 1999; Berger and Puettmann 2000) and subsequently their rates and patterns of persistence, colonization, and establishment. Studies have identified relationships between overstory structure and understory species diversity, composition, and spatial patterning (Berger and Puettmann 2000; Gilliam 2002; Scheller and Mladenoff 2002). The pattern and intensity of soil disturbance can also influence the recovery of understory plant communities (Berger et al. 2004). A study by Reader (1987) found that both soil disturbance and loss of understory species increased with cutting intensity in mature deciduous forests of Ontario. Post-harvest inventories in a number of forest types have documented declines in species richness (Hix and Barnes 1984; Duffy and Meier 1992; Goebel et al. 1999; Moola and Vasseur

2004), decreased abundance (Roberts 2002; Moola and Vasseur 2004), and local extirpations (Ruben et al. 1999; Halpern et al. 2005; Ramovs and Roberts 2005).

Loss of diversity and lack of recovery in the understory following logging may be due to a number of factors, including physical damage, physiological stress, competition with ruderal species, low reproduction, slow growth rates, limited dispersal capabilities, and loss of suitable habitat (Meier et al. 1995). In particular, forest management has been shown to affect uncommon and vernal plant species (Metzger and Schultz 1981, 1984; Meier et al. 1995; Ruben et al. 1999; McLachlan and Bazely 2001). Rare species and small populations may be particularly susceptible to genetic degradation, as well as the direct impacts of forest management such as physical damage and altered resource conditions (Roberts and Zhu 2002).

Late-successional species have also exhibited sensitivity to harvest disturbance (Moola and Vasseur 2004; Halpern et al. 2005). Post-harvest increases in diversity are commonly due to an increase in ruderal species and may mask the loss of latesuccessional species (Halpern and Spies 1995). Late-successional species often reproduce clonally or have biotic modes of dispersal, causing them to recover slowly from disturbance (Moola and Vasseur 2004). While once comprising 60-80% of the forested landscape (Lorimer and Frelich 1994; Lorimer 2001; Lorimer and White 2003), there are very few old-growth forests left in eastern North America and typical late-successional microhabitats such as canopy gaps or decayed coarse woody debris are rare (Runkle 1981). These remnants have been shown to be important refugia for late-successional plants (Bratton et al. 1994). As a result, logging methods that mimic

natural gap-phase dynamics may be less damaging than clearcutting for sensitive and rare plant species (Meier et al. 1995). Forest management alternatives that retain structural legacies, such as intact areas of forest floor and coarse woody debris, may also provide a means for maintaining understory diversity and retaining late-successional species.

The inconsistent results of post-disturbance studies that describe vegetation communities as either resilient or sensitive may reflect the site-specific nature of understory responses to forest management. For this reason, Roberts and Gilliam (1995) emphasize the importance of in-depth studies of understory responses for different forest types and different management practices. The intensity, frequency, and seasonality of the sampling scheme employed in studies of post-harvest understory response can also influence the study outcome (Ristau et al. 2001). Measures of species richness and diversity can differ in their sensitivity to sampling techniques and sample sizes, but generally tend to increase with sampling intensity (Magurran 2004). In some instances, observations of local extirpations of understory species following timber harvesting may be the product of a low sampling intensity (e.g. Meier et al. 1995). In addition, because the aboveground abundance of many understory plant species varies seasonally, the time of sampling can also greatly affect study results (Ristau et al. 2001).

The variation in study outcomes may also be partially explained by methodological differences. Chronosequencing, which involves sampling vegetation in stands that are in varying stages of post-harvest recovery, is the most common

method used to evaluate the impact of silvicultural treatments on understory vegetation. This approach assumes comparable initial site conditions, harvesting techniques, and post-disturbance influences, and may not capture the dynamics of short-lived species or populations with episodic fluctuations (Halpern 1989). Few studies of understory vegetation response in northern hardwood forests have utilized pre-disturbance data to evaluate actual changes over time (see Metzger and Schultz 1984; Hughes and Fahey 1991). This approach can minimize external variability and allow forest managers to assess the resilience of individual species and plant communities. Variability in abiotic factors, including soil properties and climatic conditions, may also be contributing to the divergent findings in studies of postdisturbance forest understories. Several years of pre-treatment data collection can establish a baseline for environmental conditions particular to a site and help isolate effects of disturbance, thus providing a more accurate picture of understory responses to forest management practices.

4. The Vermont Forest Ecosystem Management Demonstration Project (FEMDP)

The Vermont Forest Ecosystem Management Demonstration Project (FEMDP) is an on-going study that explores a balanced management approach by integrating ecological and economic objectives. The FEMDP is testing the hypothesis that "structure-based" and "disturbance-based" forestry practices can sustain a broader array of biodiversity and ecological functions, while providing opportunities for timber revenue generation (Keeton 2006).

Three modified uneven-aged silvicultural techniques that include aspects of both structure- and disturbance-based forestry are being tested by the FEMDP. Treatments include two conventional uneven-aged prescriptions, single-tree selection and group selection, which have been modified to increase structural retention and approximate the scale and pattern of natural disturbances. Modifications were based on a target residual basal area of 18.4 m²/ha, maximum diameter of 60 cm, and a qfactor of 1.3. This prescription was applied in a dispersed (single-tree selection) or aggregated (group selection) spatial pattern (Keeton 2006). The approximate size of individual group selection patches (0.05 ha) was based on estimates of fine-scale natural disturbances in New England (Seymour et al. 2002). In both of the conventional treatments, slash and unmerchantable tree boles were retained.

The third treatment is "structural complexity enhancement" (SCE), a technique that promotes accelerated development of late-successional forest structure and function. This is achieved through the development of vertically differentiated canopies and variable horizontal density, re-allocation of basal area to larger diameter classes, and increased large snag and downed log densities (Keeton 2006). These attributes were encouraged with several methods. A target basal area (34 m²/ha) and maximum diameter (90 cm) characteristic of old-growth structure were used to develop a guiding curve (Keeton 2006). The curve was also based on a rotated sigmoid target diameter distribution, one possible distribution of eastern old-growth forests (Goodburn and Lorimer 1999). The distribution was applied as a non-constant q-factor: 2.0 in the smallest size classes, 1.1 for medium sized trees, and 1.3 in the

largest size classes. Accelerated growth in larger trees was promoted with full and partial crown release. Snag and coarse woody debris (CWD) volume was enhanced based on stand potential and literature derived targets, and in some cases involved uprooting trees to mimic the pit and mound topography characteristic of natural disturbance in old-growth northern hardwood-conifer forests (Dahir and Lorimer 1996). The occurrence of these important structural characteristics is limited in forests managed with conventional even- and uneven-aged silvicultural systems (Gore and Patterson 1985; McGee et al. 1999; Crow et al. 2002; Angers et al. 2005).

Late-successional structure was historically more prevalent in the northern hardwood region (Davis 1996; Cogbill 2000); widespread forest clearing for agricultural land-use during the 19th century resulted in the current predominance of young to mature forests across the landscape. Forest management techniques such as SCE that promote late-successional structural characteristics can re-establish the variable age structures characteristic of northern hardwood forests (Keeton 2006), and may be important for a number of other reasons. For example, research has shown that the structural heterogeneity provided by older forests promotes some aspects of biodiversity and sustains ecosystem processes (Lindenmayer and Franklin 1997; McGee et al. 1999; Lindenmayer et al. 2006). Increasing late-successional forest structure can also improve wildlife habitat (Keddy and Drummond 1996; McGee et al. 1999), carbon storage (Harmon et al. 1990; Krankina and Harmon 1995; Turner et al. 1995; Houghton et al. 1999), and riparian functions (Keeton et al. 2007). Horizontal heterogeneity and complexity of vertical structures increase as forests mature, directly

affecting food availability and habitat for plants and animals. Complex vertical structure affects stand microclimates by influencing light, wind, humidity, and temperature, factors which directly and indirectly affect multiple forest taxa. The diverse microclimates and microhabitats created by multi-layered canopies can support more biological diversity (Brokaw and Lent 1999).

The understory layer of vegetation represents the majority of plant species diversity in forested ecosystems (Roberts 2004) and can be an important indication of the intensity of forest harvesting (Lindenmayer et al. 2000). The FEMDP provides a unique opportunity to assess changes in understory diversity and composition as a result of alternative forest management practices. Greater retention of overstory structure and limited soil disturbance associated with these techniques may reduce physical damage and physiological stress for established plants. In addition, the late-successional stand structure created by SCE may increase heterogeneity of light and resources and provide greater variation in microtopography on the forest floor, potentially diversifying microhabitats for understory plants. Botanical diversity and its associated ecological functions may be sustained and even augmented as a result of these structural changes. Consequently, research associated with the FEMDP's low-impact silvicultural approaches may contribute to the development of conservation-oriented management strategies in the northern hardwood region.

Chapter 2. Understory plant responses to alternative forestry practices in northern hardwood-conifer forests

Abstract

The understory layer encompasses the majority of plant species diversity in forested ecosystems and may be sensitive to timber harvest disturbance. We hypothesize that i) uneven-aged, low-intensity silvicultural systems can maintain understory plant diversity and support late-successional species following harvest disturbance; ii) retaining and enhancing stand structural complexity can increase understory plant diversity in northern hardwood-conifer forests; and iii) plant responses are influenced by interactions between canopy structure, soils, and exogenous climate processes. Experimental treatments include two conventional uneven-aged prescriptions (singletree selection and group selection) modified to increase structural retention, and a third technique designed to promote late-successional forest structure and function, termed structural complexity enhancement (SCE). Four replications of each treatment were applied to 2 ha management units at three sites in Vermont and New York, U.S.A. Understory vegetation was monitored over two years pre- and four years posttreatment. We used a linear mixed effects model to evaluate the effects of treatment, soil chemistry, and drought stress on understory diversity and abundance. Compositional changes among treatments were assessed with non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMS), an ordination technique. Model results show that over time, understory responses were strongly affected by overstory treatment and less influenced by soil chemistry and drought stress. All treatments were successful in maintaining overall composition and diversity. However, late-successional diversity increased significantly in SCE units compared to group selection units. These results indicate that while conventional uneven-aged systems are capable of maintaining understory plant diversity, variations that retain or enhance structural complexity may be more efficient at retaining late-successional species. Increased microsite heterogeneity as a result of these techniques may also increase understory plant diversity, at least during initial post-harvest recovery period.

1. Introduction

Understory vegetation comprises the majority of plant species diversity in forested systems and affects ecosystem-level processes such as nutrient cycling and energy exchange (Roberts 2004). Intensive silvicultural systems can alter the composition and diversity of understory communities by influencing the availability of light and nutrients, creating soil disturbance, and introducing vigorous competitors (Meier et al. 1995). Species adapted to late-successional forest stand structure or with limited modes of dispersal may be particularly sensitive to harvest disturbance (Halpern and Spies 1995; Roberts 2002). There is considerable previous research on understory responses to conventional even- and uneven-aged silvicultural treatments in northern hardwood forests (Metzger and Schultz 1984; Jenkins and Parker 1999; Scheller and Mladenoff 2002; Kern et al. 2006). These studies have primarily compared silvicultural systems with relatively dramatic differences in post-harvest canopy retention. Recent silvicultural research is exploring more subtle differences in post-harvest canopy structure associated with variable levels of retention (Franklin et al. 1997; Aubry et al. 1999) and uneven-aged approaches modified to enhance structural retention (Seymour 2005; Keeton 2006). Understory responses to these approaches are less well understood.

Management strategies for forested ecosystems are increasingly focused on promoting biodiversity conservation and ecosystem functioning while sustaining economic productivity (Lindenmayer et al. 2006). To meet this objective, silvicultural models that attempt to mimic the natural disturbance regimes and structural complexity of forested ecosystems are being developed (Franklin et al. 2002; Mitchell et al. 2002; Seymour et al. 2002; Keeton 2006). In Vermont, researchers from the Forest Ecosystem Management Demonstration Project (FEMDP) are testing a technique that utilizes disturbance-based forestry principles (see Mitchell et al. 2002) to accelerate development of late-successional structural characteristics, termed

Structural Complexity Enhancement (SCE) (Keeton 2006). The FEMDP study compares SCE against conventional uneven-aged approaches also modified to increase post-harvest structural retention. A central question of this research is whether different types of uneven-aged prescriptions can be modified to achieve similar biodiversity objectives, or if even slight modifications of the type, magnitude, and spatial configuration of structural retention will alter biodiversity responses. New silvicultural systems are often specifically designed to minimize impacts on biodiversity; effects on plant communities can be a key indicator of their effectiveness in this regard.

Studies evaluating the response of understory plants to silvicultural manipulations in northern hardwood forests have commonly found understory vegetation to be very resilient (Hughes and Fahey 1991; Scheller and Mladenoff 2002; Kern et al. 2006). Species richness and diversity are often maintained and even increase following harvest disturbance (Metzger and Schultz 1984; Jenkins and Parker 1999). However, diversity as a measure of community response can be deceiving if there are compensatory increases and decreases in different plant groups. For example, the loss or decline of late-successional species, defined here as species that reach maximum abundance in mature, closed-canopy, interior forests, may be obscured by increases in ruderal species (Halpern and Spies 1995). In many forest types, decreased abundance or local extirpation of late-successional species has been observed following intensive harvest disturbance, indicating that certain species may

be sensitive to overstory removal and soil disturbance (Ruben et al. 1999; Halpern et al. 2005; Ramovs and Roberts 2005).

Post-harvest composition of the understory layer is influenced by the interaction of disturbance intensity, timing, and extent, as well as the life history characteristics of persisting and colonizing species (Halpern 1989; Ramovs and Roberts 2005). Similar complex interactions affect recovery dynamics and regeneration responses following natural disturbances (Carlton and Bazzaz 1998; Franklin and MacMahon 2000). Environmental site factors such as climate, elevation, topography, light, and soil resources can also shape the composition and diversity of the understory layer (Huebner et al. 1995; Schumann et al. 2003; Roberts 2004). In particular, the influence of overstory structure on understory vegetation has been demonstrated in many forest types (Rubio et al. 1999; Moola and Vasseur 2004; Halpern et al. 2005; Macdonald and Fenniak 2007), including northern hardwoodconifer forests (Huebner et al. 1995; Brosofske et al. 2001). Disturbance can alter overstory characteristics and microtopographic features, such as coarse woody debris, that influence microsite conditions for plant species (Beatty 1984; Gilliam 2002). Similarly, relationships between understory vegetation and climatic and edaphic factors have been established (Pregitzer et al. 1983; Graves et al. 2006). Fratterigo et al. (2006) demonstrated that disturbance history influences patterns of soil nutrient availability in cove-hardwood forests, which in turn affect the spatial heterogeneity of understory plants. Plant community composition is also affected by moisture availability (Davis et al. 1998; Hutchinson et al. 1999; Schumann et al. 2003);

extended periods of drought have been shown to induce declines in plant species richness and cover (Yurkonis and Meiners 2006). While these findings have contributed to a broad understanding of the factors controlling plant responses, few studies have investigated the relative importance of below-ground (e.g. soil nutrient availability) and above-ground (e.g. canopy structure) influences on post-harvest understory composition and diversity (Brosofske et al. 2001; Gilliam 2002; Macdonald and Fenniak 2007).

The most common technique used to evaluate the impact of silvicultural treatments on understory vegetation is chronosequencing, which involves sampling vegetation in stands that are in varying stages of post-harvest recovery. This approach assumes comparable initial site conditions, harvesting techniques, and post-harvest disturbance history, and may not capture the dynamics of short-lived species or populations with episodic fluctuations (Halpern 1989). In northern hardwood-conifer forests, few studies of understory vegetation response have utilized pre-harvest data combined with post-harvest data from more than one year (e.g. Metzger and Schultz 1984). Here we report on a data set spanning six years, including four years of posttreatment monitoring, which provides a comparatively longer time period over which to assess recovery dynamics, such as lagged responses. Furthermore, there is little information available on plant responses to low-intensity, uneven-aged systems with variable levels and spatial patterns of post-harvest structural retention. Assessing initial understory responses to these variations may help to identify which combinations are capable of meeting criteria for biodiversity conservation, and if there

is a critical threshold for the local persistence of certain plant species (Halpern et al. 2005).

Our research objective was to evaluate changes in the diversity, composition, and abundance of understory plant communities following three uneven-aged forestry practices modified to increase post-harvest structural retention: single-tree selection, group selection, and SCE. Pre- and post-disturbance understory communities were monitored to assess initial compositional changes including species persistence and colonization, as well as local extirpations of sensitive species. To further understand the factors driving changes in the understory, we explored the relationships between plant responses and overstory structure, soil properties, and drought stress. We hypothesize that i) variants of uneven-aged, low-intensity silviculture can maintain understory plant diversity and support late-successional species through harvest disturbance; ii) retaining and enhancing stand structural complexity can increase understory plant diversity in northern hardwood-conifer forests; and iii) plant responses are influenced by interactions between canopy structure, soils, and exogenous climate processes.

2. Methods

2.1. Study Areas

The study was conducted at three study areas: the Mount Mansfield State Forest, the University of Vermont's Jericho Research Forest, and the Forest Ecosystem Research Demonstration Area (FERDA) in Paul Smiths, New York. The FERDA is a collaborative research effort among the Northern Research Station of the

USDA Forest Service, Paul Smith's College, and the Adirondack Park Agency Visitor Interpretive Center. The Vermont Forest Ecosystem Management Demonstration Project (FEMDP) established the experimental treatments and long-term monitoring project at Mount Mansfield State Forest and the Jericho Research Forest. All three sites are mature (ca. 70-100 years), multi-aged northern hardwood-conifer forests with a documented history of timber management. Mount Mansfield State Forest is situated on the western slopes of Mount Mansfield in northern Vermont at elevations ranging from 470 to 660 m; soils are primarily Peru extremely stony loams. The Jericho Research Forest is located in the foothills of the northern Green Mountains of Vermont at 200 to 250 m; soils are Adams and Windsor loamy sands or sandy loams. The FERDA sites are located at approximately 500 m elevation in the northwestern section of the Adirondack Park in New York. The soils are Adams loamy sands. At all three study sites, the dominant overstory species include sugar maple (Acer saccharum), American beech (Fagus grandifolia), and yellow birch (Betula alleghaniensis). At the Jericho Research Forest and the FERDA, eastern hemlock (*Tsuga canadensis*) is also co-dominant and there are minor components of red maple (Acer rubrum) and red oak (Quercus rubra). Red spruce (Picea rubens) is a minor element of the canopy at Mount Mansfield State Forest.

2.2. Experimental Design

Four replicates of each treatment and eight untreated controls were established across the three study areas. Treatments included two conventional uneven-aged manipulations, single-tree selection (STS) and group selection (GS), and structural

complexity enhancement (SCE). Experimental units were 2 ha in size and separated by 50 m (minimum) unlogged buffers to minimize cross-contamination of treatment effects. All three treatments were designed to retain a high degree of post-harvest forest stand structure. However, the treatments have different effects in terms of spatial patterning, level of retention and the specific type of features retained (see Keeton 2006).

At the FEMDP sites, logging was conducted on frozen ground in winter of 2003. Experimental units received one of three manipulative treatments or were designated as an untreated control. The conventional treatments were modified to increase post-harvest structural retention. Modifications were based on a target residual basal area of $18.4 \text{ m}^2/\text{ha}$, maximum diameter of 60 cm, and a q-factor of 1.3. This prescription was applied in a dispersed (single-tree selection) or aggregated (group selection) spatial pattern (Keeton 2006). The approximate size of individual group selection patches (0.05 ha) was based on estimates of average fine-scale natural disturbance pattern in New England (Seymour et al. 2002) and resulted in eight to nine groups per experimental unit. In both of the conventional treatments, slash and unmerchantable tree boles were retained.

SCE is designed to promote late-successional structural characteristics, including vertically differentiated canopies, elevated large snag and coarse woody debris (CWD) volumes and densities, variable horizontal density (including small canopy gaps), and reallocation of basal area to larger size classes. FEMDP researchers used several silvicultural methods to accelerate development of these attributes as

described in Keeton (2006). A target basal area (34 m²/ha) and maximum diameter at breast height (90 cm) characteristic of old-growth structure were used to develop a target diameter distribution to which stands were cut (Keeton 2006). The diameter distribution was also based on a rotated sigmoid form, which is typical of some eastern old-growth forests, depending on disturbance history, species composition, and other variables (Goodburn and Lorimer 1999). The sigmoidal distribution was applied as a non-constant q-factor: 2.0 in the smallest size classes, 1.1 for medium sized trees, and 1.3 in the largest size classes. Accelerated growth in larger trees was promoted with full and partial crown release. Downed coarse woody debris (CWD) volumes were enhanced 140% on average over pre-harvest levels. In two of the four SCE units (one per study area), CWD enhancement involved uprooting trees to mimic the pit and mound topography characteristic of natural disturbance in old-growth northern hardwood-conifer forests (Dahir and Lorimer 1996).

The FERDA consists of fourteen 2 ha units treated with a variety of even-aged, multi-aged, and uneven-aged silvicultural methods during the winter of 1999-2000 (Rechlin et al. 2000). Data from eight units (two single-tree selection, two group-selection, and four controls) were included in this study. Approximately 30% of tree volume was removed, leaving approximately 18 m²/ha in the treatment units, slash was left on site and treated to keep all branches below 1.3 m, and all standing dead trees were retained. Individual patches in the group selection units were approximately 0.04 ha in size (Wade et al. 2003). Structural retention and spatial pattern of single-tree selection and group selection units at the FERDA and FEMDP
sites were similar; as a result, data from these treatment types were combined in the analyses.

2.3. Data Collection

In the FEMDP study areas, five randomly placed 0.1 ha permanent sampling plots were established within each 2 ha treatment unit, buffered by a 15 m minimum distance from the edge of the unit. We inventoried overstory structural characteristics by permanently tagging all live and dead trees (> 5 cm dbh and >1.37 m tall) within the sampling plots. Species and diameter were recorded for each tagged tree. Thirteen 1 m² quadrats were established systematically along transects running northsouth and east-west within each plot. Percent cover of all vascular and non-vascular species was estimated within the quadrats. Data were collected annually during the month of June in an attempt to capture the maximum diversity of spring ephemerals and later developing species. Two years of pre-treatment and four years of posttreatment data are included in this study.

In the FERDA study areas, eight 0.04 ha permanent plots for sampling overstory structure were systematically located within each 2 ha treatment unit. Four 1 m² quadrats were established within each permanent plot for monitoring understory vegetation. Percent cover of all vascular species was estimated in each quadrat during May-June for two years pre-treatment and three years post-treatment. At all of the study areas we used an ocular method for percent cover estimation designed to increase precision and reduce error.

Soil macronutrients were sampled from four 2 m² subplots within each monitoring plot at the FEMDP study sites. A randomly located 10 cm diameter core was taken of the organic horizon (O horizon) down to the mineral layer. Samples were kept cool and prepared for processing within 24 hours. Soils analyses were conducted at the University of Vermont Agricultural Testing Lab according to the methods described in Wolf and Beegle (1995). Soil samples were dried at 55°C, ground in a mortar and pestle, and sieved through a 2-mm sieve. Available nutrients and reactive aluminum were extracted with Modified Morgan solution (ammonium acetate at pH 4.8, with a 5:1 solution:soil ratio, shaken for 15 minutes). Available P was determined colorimetrically (molybdate blue, reduced with SnCl₂); major cations (Ca, K, Mg, Na, Al) and micronutrients (Fe, Mn, B, Cu, Zn, S) were determined by Inductively Coupled Plasma Spectroscopy (ICP). Total % C and % N were determined by combustion analysis (Thermo Finnegan FlashEA Analyzer, Milan, Italy) as described in Bremner (1996). For ammonium (NH_4^+) and nitrate (NO_3^-) , 5 g dried and sieved soil was extracted with 1M KCl. Analysis was by automated colorimetric analyzer (NH_4^+ by salicylate, NO_3^- by cadmium reduction followed by diazotized sulfanilamide). Organic matter was estimated by weight loss on ignition (2 hr at 375°); pH was measured in a 2:1 suspension.

Climate data were obtained from the National Climatic Data Center (NCDC 2007). We utilized Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) data for Vermont climate division 1 (western) and for New York division 8 (St. Lawrence

Valley). PDSI is a time bias corrected monthly value that indicates prolonged moisture deficiency or excess for a region and has been shown to reflect fluctuations in soil moisture (Mika et al. 2005). Temperature, evapotranspiration, soil moisture loss, soil moisture recharge, runoff, and precipitation are parameters used to calculate the index (Oliver and Fairbridge 1987). Use of a single index rather than multiple climatic parameters allowed us to reduce the number of explanatory variables, simplifying analyses and increasing statistical power.

2.4. Data Analysis

2.4.1. Understory responses

Quadrat-level sample data for pre- and post-harvest years at all three study sites were input into a Microsoft Access relational database. The final dataset spanned six years and included over 16,000 observations. Quality control involved evaluating each observation to ensure positive identifications and consistency across the years. Several species with inconsistent identifications were collapsed to genera. Individual species were classified into habitat guilds defined by habitat preference classes described by Ramovs and Roberts (2005). We equate their "forest class" with latesuccessional and their "disturbed class" with early-successional species as employed in this analysis. Habitat guilds include late-successional (species reach maximum abundance in mature, closed-canopy, interior forest), intermediate (species occupy young to mature, open or closed canopy forest but not excessively disturbed habitats) and early-successional (species reach maximum abundance in open-canopy, disturbed areas). Habitat preferences were determined according to Gleason and Cronquist

(1991). We calculated plot level means for Hill's (1973) series of diversity indices $(N_0, N_1, \text{ and } N_2)$, where N_0 represents species richness, N_1 the exponential Shannon-Weiner index and N_2 the reciprocal Simpson Index (Hill 1973). The sequence progressively downweights rare species; diversity measures are arranged according to their tendency to emphasize either species richness (weighting towards uncommon species) or dominance (weighting toward abundant species) (Magurran 2004). The indices are calculated as follows:

 $N_0 = \#$ of species per quadrat $N_1 = \exp(-\Sigma p_i log p_i)$ $N_2 = 1/\Sigma p_i^2$

where p_i is equal to the proportional abundance of the *i*th species. The series of indices, as well as percent cover, were calculated for all species and for the habitat guilds. Treatment level means of the diversity and abundance response variables were calculated for pre- and post harvest years within each of the habitat guilds (Table 1).

2.4.2. Analyses of treatment effects

Multivariate analyses were used to determine if treatment had an effect on trends in the understory response variables over time. We used a linear mixed effects model (LME) in SAS version 9.1 (SAS Institute Inc. 2003) to model diversity response variables for all species and the habitat guilds. Treatment, site, and year were modeled as fixed effects and plots and units as random effects. Plots were nested within units and units within sites. The model output includes parameter estimates for the fixed effects (e.g. treatment*year interaction) and covariance estimates for the random effects.

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) models were used to further explore the effect of treatment on understory response variables. The first hypothesis, that latesuccessional species can persist through low-intensity treatments, was tested by calculating unit-level means of the diversity and abundance response variables for the late-successional guild and running ANOVAs on the percent change of each variable from pre- to post-harvest years. We tested for differences between the two pre-harvest years to determine if there was significant interannual variability in the pre-treatment baseline data. Because there were no significant differences between the two preharvest years, we defined pre-harvest as one year before harvest. Post-treatment was defined as three years after harvest, the longest time period available for all study areas. If significant treatment effects were detected, ANOVAs were followed by Tukey multiple comparison tests. The same technique was applied to the diversity and abundance response variables for species of all habitat guilds combined to determine if treatments maintained species diversity and to test the second hypothesis, that SCE increases understory plant diversity. This method was repeated for the earlysuccessional and intermediate habitat guilds to identify other notable pre- to posttreatment trends.

We used the multi-response permutation procedure (MRPP) in PC-ORD Version 4.41 (McCune and Mefford 1999) to test for differences in overall species composition among treatments and between pre- and post harvest years within

treatments using the Sørenson distance measure. Nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMS), a non-parametric ordination method, was also applied in PC-ORD to interpret compositional patterns among the treatment units. The main advantages of NMS are: (i) it avoids the assumption of linear relationships among variables, (ii) it allows the use of any distance measure, and (iii) its use of ranked distances tends to linearize the relationship between distances in environmental space, relieving the "zero-truncation problem" in most ordination methods. For these reasons, NMS is considered the most effective ordination method for ecological community data (McCune and Grace 2002). We ran NMS on a species-by-sample matrix for pre- and post-treatment data with random starting configurations. Both ordinations used a Sørenson distance measure and each included 20 runs of real data. Dimensionality of the data was assessed using the Monte Carlo permutation procedure in PC-ORD with 30 runs of randomized data.

To determine if any species were declining or absent from treatment units in post-harvest years, presence-absence and abundance of individual species were evaluated throughout the study period. Species initially present in low frequencies (< 2 quadrats) or at low densities (<0.5%) were not included in this assessment.

2.4.3. Sub-analysis of overstory structure and soil properties

As an indicator of pre- and post-harvest stand structure, we calculated relative density (RD) following Curtis (1982). This form of RD integrates quadratic mean diameter and stem density, and is thus indicative of multiple attributes of overstory structure, such as total occupation of growing space based on both tree density and

size. The index is appropriate to both even- and uneven-aged stands (Curtis 1982). We used RD as a surrogate for treatment in this sub-analysis. Plot and unit-level means for the required component forest inventory metrics were generated using the Northeast Ecosystem Management Decision Model (NED-2) (Twery et al. 2005).

A subset of the data from the FEMDP sites was used to evaluate the effects of soil properties on understory response variables and to determine whether local differences in soil characteristics may have confounded treatment effects. Five soil chemical characteristics thought to be important to understory vegetation were selected based on earlier studies (Pregitzer et al. 1983; Hutchinson et al. 1999; Gilliam 2002; Kolb and Diekmann 2004). These were percent organic matter (% OM), total nitrogen (% N), calcium (Ca), available phosphorus (P), and pH. Due to a strong relationship in the dataset between Ca and pH (p = <0.001, $r^2 = 0.339$), pH was not included in the analyses. Percent organic matter was included because it can be reflective of local soil moisture and cation exchange capacity (Johnson et al. 1997). Soil cation concentrations, particularly calcium, have been shown to control distributions of understory plants (Gilliam and Turrell 1993; Kolb and Diekmann 2004; Graves et al. 2006), and plant growth is commonly limited by availability of nitrogen and phosphorus (Marschner 1995). Samples from the organic layer (first 10 cm) were used as this layer encompasses the bulk of the rooting zone of the understory. Plot and unit-level means were generated for each soil variable.

Pre- to post-harvest percent change was calculated for all variables and a correlation matrix used to identify relationships among the soil variables, RD, and the

diversity and abundance response variables (N_0 , N_1 , N_2 , and % cover) for all species and for the habitat guilds. The LME model was run for each response variable with treatment, site, and year as fixed effects, unit and plot as random effects, and soil characteristics as covariates.

The effects of site variables on overall species composition were assessed using the NMS ordination in PC-ORD. We calculated the percent of variance explained by each ordination axis and generated Kendall's Tau correlations to identify associations between ordination scores and overstory and soil characteristics, both before and after treatment. Overlays were created in PC-ORD to interpret the results.

2.4.4. Analysis of Moisture stress

Moisture stress in the study areas was assessed using the Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI). Monthly PDSI values were averaged into two time periods when moisture stress would likely influence understory vegetation. PDSI_1 represents a mean monthly value for July-September of the year prior to sampling. PDSI_2 represents a mean monthly value for April-June of the sampling year. For diversity and abundance response variables (all species and habitat guilds), pre-treatment data were removed and unit means were standardized to +/- mean for each treatment/site. For each treatment, simple linear regressions were used to identify relationships between PDSI_1 and PDSI_2 and standardized annual means of the response variables.

3. Results

3.1. Treatment effects

Analysis of understory response trends over time using the LME model showed a significant treatment*time interaction on diversity and abundance response variables for all species (N₀: p = <0.001; N₁: p = <0.001; N₂: p = 0.004; % cover: p = <0.001). The same interaction effect was found for late-successional and earlysuccessional species, but not for intermediate species (Table 2). Further exploratory analyses using ANOVA models revealed differences in diversity and abundance responses among treatments from 1 year before harvest (pre) to 3 years after harvest (post) (Table 3). Multiple comparison tests showed that for all species combined, percent change in N₀ (p = 0.032), N₁ (p = 0.004), N₂ (p = 0.010) and percent cover (p = 0.031) were significantly higher in SCE treatment units than in control units. Percent change in N₂ for all species was also significantly higher in STS units than in the controls (p = 0.010).

When responses were analyzed separately for habitat guilds, we found that SCE units maintained significantly higher N₀ than GS units (p = 0.010), higher N₁ and N₂ than control units (N₁: p = 0.009; N₂: p = 0.016) and higher percent cover than GS, STS or control units for late-successional species (p = 0.010). Diversity responses of intermediate species were not different among treatments, but abundance increased significantly_in SCE units compared to GS or STS units (p = 0.03). All three treatments showed a minor increase in early-successional species diversity and abundance, but only the conventional treatments increased significantly (N₁: p = 0.011; N₂: p = 0.006; % cover: p = 0.015).

In the pre-treatment dataset, NMS found a three-dimensional solution (32 iterations; final stress of 9.17; Monte Carlo test, p = 0.03). The variation in species composition was explained by Axis 1 (44.8%), Axis 2 (33.2%) and Axis 3 (12.0%); the three ordination axes accounted for 90% of the total variation. The first two axes are displayed in Figure 1a. The NMS ordination and the results of the MRPP (A =0.009, p = 0.320 indicated that there were no significant compositional differences among treatments. NMS also found a three-dimensional solution (23 iterations; final stress of 12.2; Monte Carlo test, p = 0.03) in the post-treatment dataset. The three axes accounted for a total of 75.9% of the variation in species composition: 38.2%, 25.1% and 12.6% respectively. The first two axes are displayed in Figure 1b. Although the ordination depicted stronger clustering of experimental units by treatment group, the results of the MRPP indicated that there was no significant difference in species composition among treatments (A = 0.026, p = 0.142). However, the average distance between SCE units ($\delta = 0.778$) was greater than the control ($\delta =$ 0.582), GS ($\delta = 0.560$) or STS ($\delta = 0.609$) units, reflecting the greater compositional heterogeneity among post-treatment SCE units. The results of the MRPP within treatments revealed no significant differences in overall species composition from preto post-harvest years in the control or treatment units (control: A = -0.046, p = 1.00; GS: A = 0.028, p = 0.232; STS: A = 0, p = 0.458; SCE: A = -0.049, p = 0.855).

In total, 108 vascular understory species were recorded in the pre-treatment monitoring plots. Twenty of these were absent from one or more units in the post-treatment surveys. Of the eleven species that were absent from treatment units, excluding controls, all were classified as late-successional species and ten had biotic (animal-mediated) modes of dispersal (Table 4). All treatment and control units experienced some local species losses. GS units lost a greater mean percentage of species (14.1%) than STS (7.3%), SCE (4.8%) or control (4.5%) units; however, there were no significant differences in mean percent species loss among treatments (p = 0.07).

3.2. Effect of overstory structure and soil properties

The effects of treatment and soil properties on overall trends in diversity responses over time were assessed with the LME model. The interaction of treatment*time had a strong effect on understory response variables for all species, early-successional species and late-successional species, while the effects of the soil covariates were not significant (Table 2). Conversely, for the intermediate species guild, the treatment*time interaction was not significant for any of the diversity or abundance response variables, while % OM and total % N did show significant effects (% OM: N₁, *p* = 0.001, N₂, *p* = 0.002; total % N: N₀, *p* = 0.004, N₁, *p* = 0.001, N₂, *p* = 0.036).

The correlation matrices did not reveal any consistent relationships between pre- to post-harvest percent change in soil properties and understory response variables. At the plot level, soil variables were generally not associated with diversity and abundance responses, with a few exceptions. Change in % OM was positively correlated with intermediate species N₀ ($r^2 = 0.174$, p = 0.008) and early-successional N₂ ($r^2 = 0.205$, p = 0.014), and negatively correlated with early-successional N₁ ($r^2 = 0.510$, p = 0.009). Negative correlations were found between change in total % N and early-successional N₀ ($r^2 = 0.180$, p = 0.022), and between change in Ca and late-successional N₂ ($r^2 = 0.097$, p = 0.022). In contrast, overstory structure, represented by change in RD, was negatively correlated with changes in all response variables at the plot level, excluding late successional N₀ ($r^2 = 0.000$, p = 0.976). At the unit level, no pre- to post-harvest changes in soil nutrients were associated with the response variables. Change in RD was also not correlated with response variables, with the exception of a negative association with changes in N₁ ($r^2 = 0.209$, p = 0.043) and N₂ ($r^2 = 0.252$, p = 0.024) for all species.

Kendall rank correlation coefficients (τ) for the five selected overstory and soil variables on the NMS ordination axes before and after treatment are listed in Table 5. Before treatment, none of the variables were significantly correlated with Axis 1, which accounted for most of the variation in species composition. RD (τ = .439) and OM (τ = -0.336) were strongly correlated with Axis 2, and RD was strongly correlated with Axis 3 (τ = -0.435) (Figure 1a). After treatment, RD (τ = 0.368), OM (τ = -0.362) and N (τ = -0.336) were significantly correlated with Axis 1 and all of the soil variables (OM, τ = 0.441; Ca, τ = 0.520; N, τ = 0.338; P, τ = 0.494) were significantly correlated with Axis 2 (Table 5).

3.3. Effect of climate variability

Drought indices were not strongly correlated (p < 0.05) with standardized diversity response variables for all species or for the habitat guilds in the control units. In the treatment units, there were no significant correlations between PDSI_1 and diversity responses or between PDSI_2 and diversity responses, with the exception of late-successional N₀. PDSI_2 was correlated with late-successional N₀ in units treated with GS (p = 0.012, $r^2 = 0.747$), STS (p = 0.018, $r^2 = 0.703$) and SCE (p =0.024, $r^2 = 0.602$).

4. Discussion

4.1. Understory plant responses to experimental treatments

4.1.1. General responses

The results of this study support our hypothesis that in northern hardwood-conifer forests, understory plant species diversity can be maintained through uneven-aged forestry practices that retain or enhance stand structural complexity. Experimental units treated with group selection (GS), single-tree selection (STS), and structural complexity enhancement (SCE) all showed increases in diversity measures (N₀, N₁, and N₂) during the four years following harvest disturbance (Figure 2). We observed a significant increase in diversity response variables in the SCE units from one year pre-harvest to three years post-harvest, suggesting that enhancement of stand structural complexity may increase overall species diversity, at least during the initial post-disturbance recovery period. The lack of significant differences in post-harvest species composition among treatments and from pre- to post-harvest within treatments indicates that all three treatments were generally capable of preserving the integrity of the understory layer. In evaluating short-term responses, it can be difficult to discern the immediate effects of disturbance from the direct and indirect effects of residual overstory structure, which may become increasingly important over time (Halpern et al. 2005). Nevertheless, initial responses, such as the ability of certain species or guilds to persist through the disturbance, may be indicative of the intensity of silvicultural systems and could have important implications for biodiversity conservation.

4.1.2. Response of habitat guilds

Previous studies of post-harvest forest understories have documented diversity increases immediately following silvicultural disturbance (Gilliam et al. 1995; Halpern and Spies 1995; Jenkins and Parker 1999). These increases are often attributed to an influx of early-successional species as a result of changes in light and resource availability on the forest floor. Dominance of early-successional species is generally short-lived, but with periodic disturbance their presence may impact recovery of the understory (Scheller and Mladenoff 2002). We detected an increase in earlysuccessional species diversity and abundance in all three treatments; however, only the conventional treatments increased significantly. This may be due to increased light availability in the conventional treatment units, which retained significantly less overstory structure (e.g. canopy closure and leaf area index) than SCE treatment units (Keeton 2006). There was no difference in soil compaction among treatments, yet higher levels of scarification in the conventional treatment units (Keeton, unpubl. data)

may also have contributed to post-harvest increases in early-successional species. Additionally, greater retention and enhancement of late-successional structural characteristics in the SCE treatment units (Keeton 2006) may have reduced the amount of early-successional habitat available for post-harvest colonization.

Understory diversity commonly increases with light availability (Brosofske et al. 2001). The diversity increases in all three treatment types in this study support this relationship. However, SCE units experienced less overstory removal and showed greater increases in understory diversity than conventional treatment units, suggesting that heterogeneity may be more important for diversity response than total availability of light in the understory. The spatial heterogeneity of light created by small canopy gaps, as well as other structural characteristics such as coarse woody debris, may be particularly important for late-successional species. A study by Scheller and Mladenoff (2002) on the spatial patterning of understory communities in northern hardwood forests showed that old-growth had smaller understory community patch sizes and greater patch heterogeneity than younger forests. Community patch size was correlated with both coarse woody debris and light heterogeneity (Scheller and Mladenoff 2002). The application of SCE in this study attempted to approximate the structural heterogeneity of old-growth forests (Keeton et al. 2007) by retaining large diameter trees, harvesting trees in a variable density pattern to create a range of small gap sizes as well as undisturbed patches, creating pit and mound topography, and increasing levels of coarse woody debris (Keeton 2006). These changes may have increased microsite heterogeneity and reduced interspecific competition of understory

plants after harvest, allowing a greater diversity of understory species to persist, particularly those that require late-successional habitat. Although overall changes in species composition were not significantly different among treatments, post-treatment increases in late-successional species richness, diversity and cover were significantly higher in SCE treatment units than control units (Figure 3). This trend could become more pronounced over longer time periods, as the primary influence on understory communities shifts from the initiating disturbance to the residual structure (Halpern et al. 2005). However, although late-successional richness continued to increase, the two measures of late-successional diversity decreased slightly from post-harvest year 3 to year 4 in the SCE treatment units, suggesting that the initial increase may be unstable or transient. Alternatively, the slight decrease may represent inter-annual variability attributable to other environmental controls.

4.1.3. Local extirpations

Local extirpations of species that are sensitive to disturbance have been observed in intensively managed forests (Halpern et al. 2005; Ramovs and Roberts 2005). Species that reproduce clonally or have biotic dispersal mechanisms may be particularly sensitive to silvicultural disturbance (Meier et al. 1995; Mabry et al. 2000). In this study, the percentage of species lost in treatment units was not significantly different from the percentage lost in control units, although the identity and habitat preference of these species differed. Macdonald et al. (2007) suggest that the threshold for a "lifeboating" effect of variable-retention harvesting must be between 20 and 75% retention. The levels of basal area retention in the treatments

employed in this study were within or above this range (GS, STS: 64-70% retained; SCE: 81% retained; see Keeton 2006). The greater mean percentage of species lost from conventional units (GS: 14.1%, STS: 7.3%) than SCE or control units (4.8% and 4.5%, respectively) indicates that the level of retention may influence the persistence of understory species. Reader (1987) also found that percent of understory species lost increased with cutting intensity in hardwood forests of Southern Ontario. However, in contrast to our study, Reader (1987) demonstrated that size of the silvicultural openings did not influence loss of understory species. Based on our findings, the difference between GS and STS units, while not significant, suggests that the spatial pattern of retention may also be important.

The majority of species locally extirpated from one or more experimental treatment units following harvest disturbance were late-successional, perennial herbs or shrubs with biotic modes of dispersal (Table 4). Three of these species, *Lonicera canadensis, Oxalis acetosella*, and *Trientalis borealis*, have been previously identified as sensitive to disturbance (Ruben et al. 1999; Ramovs and Roberts 2005; Wiegmann and Waller 2006). Many similar studies (e.g. Halpern and Spies 1995) have proposed that investigations of diversity responses alone can obscure important compositional changes. Our study supports this viewpoint by demonstrating that although low-intensity, uneven-aged treatments can support late-successional understory plant diversity, populations of sensitive species may still be adversely impacted, even by timber harvests that retain very high levels of post-harvest stand structure.

We recognize several uncertainties related to the observed loss of species from treatment units. The loss of species from control units suggests that irrespective of treatment, there are fluctuations in the presence and abundance of understory species. The mean pre-harvest abundances of impacted species were all very low (< 9%), suggesting that species initially present in low densities are more likely to be affected by forest management practices. The absence of a particular species in post-harvest years may be due to climatic variation, site conditions, plant life history characteristics, as well as variable sampling techniques. Species classified as locally extirpated may have been dormant or simply not detected in the four post-harvest sampling years. Others that persisted through the harvest disturbance may be gradually extirpated as a result of disturbance-related stress, inability to adapt to microclimate changes, and increased competition with ruderal species (Meier et al. 1995; Halpern et al. 2005). Finally, it is uncertain whether continued monitoring will indicate that local extirpations are only short-term in nature if recolonization proceeds from clonal expansion and seed rain from surrounding areas.

4.2. Influence of overstory structure and soil properties

Composition and diversity of forest understories are known to be related to local environmental and edaphic factors and can vary at different spatial scales (Brosofske et al. 2001). For instance, soil nutrient availability has been shown to influence patterns of understory vegetation (Kolb and Diekmann 2004; Fraterrigo et al. 2006). Plant distributions are affected by soil cation concentrations, particularly calcium (Gilliam and Turrell 1993; Graves et al. 2006). The soil characteristics evaluated in this study appeared to have some influence on understory responses, yet the relationships we detected were highly variable and did not reveal consistent trends. A negative relationship between calcium and late-successional N₂ was detected at a fine spatial scale (plot-level); however, there were no correlations between calcium and other response variables at the fine scale, or between calcium and response variables at a coarser spatial scale (unit-level).

Total percent nitrogen and percent organic matter were also related to certain diversity responses for intermediate and early-successional species at a fine scale; however, the directionality of these associations was inconsistent and they were not observed at a coarser scale. Previous studies have also documented negative relationships between nutrient availability and plant species diversity at fine scales (Rosenzweig 1995; Brosofske et al. 2001; Gilliam 2002). Tilman (1993) hypothesized that increased productivity as a result of greater nutrient availability suppressed diversity in grasslands by reducing germination sites available to colonizing species, an idea that may also be applicable to forested systems. In this study, the negative association between certain soil nutrients and plant species diversity may be attributed to effects of the silvicultural disturbance. Forest management activities often alter soil properties, although the intensity and duration of these changes vary with the soil and forest type, as well as the type of management employed (Grigal 2000). Depending on the intensity of harvest, soil nutrient availability can increase as a result of high organic matter inputs or decrease due to biomass removal and leaching (Johnson et al. 1997; Elliott and Knoepp 2005).

While forest management may lead to a short-term decline in soil nutrients, elimination of overstory competition may temporarily increase the availability of these nutrients (and light) to understory vegetation (Roberts 2004), leading to increased productivity and diversity. Calcium is one of the elements most susceptible to depletion following timber harvesting because of its high concentration in tree wood and bark (Schaberg et al. 2001). In this study, we observed decreases in soil calcium in both treated and control units, indicating that soil calcium depletion, a widespread phenomenon in northeastern forests linked to acid deposition (Federer et al. 1989; Likens et al. 1998), is occurring in the study areas irrespective of timber harvesting. Increases in plant species diversity were limited to treated areas, suggesting that the negative association between calcium and late-successional plant species diversity involves some interaction with treatment. Similar to our study, Gilliam et al. (2002) found a negative correlation between calcium and plant species diversity, but only in clearcut stands.

The relative strength of the influence of overstory structure versus soil properties on understory vegetation is unclear. Studies have demonstrated that both timber harvest and soil properties strongly influence the understory layer (Elliott and Knoepp 2005; Macdonald and Fenniak 2007). In some instances, soil properties exert a greater control on forest understories than stand structure (Gilliam 2002), while in others, the influence of overstory characteristics can override local site factors (Brosofske et al. 2001). We observed strong relationships between pre- to postharvest change in RD and all response variables at the fine scale, and with change in

N₁ and N₂ for all species at the coarser scale, indicating that changes in overstory structure were strongly related to understory response. Results of the LME model support this conclusion; over time, understory response variables for all species, early-successional and late-successional species were strongly affected by treatment and less influenced by soil properties (Table 2). Model results also suggest that the influence of overstory structure is less important to intermediate species, which can occupy both open and closed canopy forests; for these species, soil covariates may be more important. The ordination indicates that both overstory and soil characteristics are useful in explaining some of the variation in species composition, although much of the variation is left unexplained. As in similar studies (e.g. Macdonald and Fenniak 2007), it is likely that plant species composition was also influenced by unmeasured factors, such as elevation and microtopography, as well as historical patterns of disturbance and recovery.

4.3. Effect of Drought Stress

Moisture availability is often cited as a significant factor influencing vegetation dynamics in forest understories (Huebner et al. 1995; Hutchinson et al. 1999; Kolb and Diekmann 2004). In this study, periods of moderate to severe drought occurred during the pre-harvest years at the sites in Vermont and in both pre- and postharvest years at the sites in New York (Figure 4). However, there were no significant relationships between the PDSI drought indices and understory response variables for all species or for the habitat guilds in the control units, indicating that independent of changes in overstory structure, drought stress did not have a strong influence on understory response. The relationships between late-successional species richness and PDSI_2 observed in the treatment units suggest that by exposing the understory to higher light levels and desiccation, silvicultural disturbance may exacerbate the effects of drought stress on late-successional species. The relationships we observed between moisture stress and declines in late-successional species richness were stronger in conventional treatments that experienced a greater reduction in canopy closure compared to the SCE units. This indicates that these effects may vary with the size and spatial clustering of canopy openings. Uneven-aged practices like SCE that retain high levels of canopy closure and vertical canopy complexity (Keeton 2006) may expose understory plant communities to less post-harvest moisture stress and associated changes in plant community composition.

Recovery from pre-harvest drought conditions is one possible explanation for the large post-harvest increases in diversity and abundance in the SCE treatment units. However, in order to return to pre-drought levels, N_0 would need to increase by 18.5%, N_1 by 15.7%, N_2 by 10.2% and percent cover by 12.2%. The increases we observed, 44.9% for N_0 , 42.6% for N_1 , 47.5% for N_2 and 14.2% for percent cover, are much larger, indicating that while recovery from drought may have been partially responsible for the increases in understory response variables, the majority of the changes can be attributed to treatment effects. This conclusion is supported by the absence of significant relationships between drought indices and understory response variables in the control units.

5. Management Implications

Sustainable forest management practices aim to maintain biodiversity and ecosystem functioning, while providing opportunities for timber revenue generation. Experimental research at the scale of individual forest stands provides an opportunity to assess the contribution of these practices to broader, landscape-scale conservation efforts. Assessments of how plant species respond to silvicultural treatments informs our understanding of the aggregate representation of different elements of plant biodiversity (e.g. early vs. late-successional) provided by the mix of treatments and stand conditions present at larger spatial scales. The results of our study will be useful in this context.

Our results generally support previous studies that demonstrate the capacity for uneven-aged silvicultural systems to maintain understory plant diversity in northern hardwood-conifer forests (Jenkins and Parker 1999; Scheller and Mladenoff 2002; Kern et al. 2006). The treatments in this study were modified to retain or enhance post-harvest structure, and it appears that even subtle differences in type, magnitude, and spatial configuration of the silvicultural prescription can result in varying understory vegetation responses. Techniques that enhance stand structural complexity may increase microsite variability on the forest floor and, as a result, sustain higher levels of understory plant diversity. By retaining biological legacies (see Franklin et al. 2002) in the form of undisturbed patches of forest canopy and forest floor, these techniques may preserve late-successional species and those that are slow to recolonize formerly occupied sites.

Despite overall maintenance of diversity under all of the low impact treatments investigated in this study, including conventional selection systems, we did observe local extirpations of certain plant species, predominantly those with an affinity for late-successional habitat, within experimental units of all treatment types, including the controls. However, during the four year post-treatment study period, GS units lost a greater percentage of species (14.1%) than STS (7.3%), SCE (4.8%), or control (4.5%) units. SCE experienced less overstory removal than the conventional treatments; the only difference between the GS and STS prescriptions was dispersed versus aggregated harvesting (see Keeton 2006). These results suggest that both the magnitude and spatial pattern of structural retention are important for retaining understory plant species through a harvest disturbance. This finding emphasizes the need to better predict compositional changes in understory plant communities following different types and intensities of silvicultural disturbance.

Where risks to plant populations, such as local extirpations of rare, threatened, or sensitive species, are deemed unacceptable, efforts can be made to minimize deleterious impacts on soils and plant communities. Choice of harvesting machinery as well as skidding and yarding practices are important considerations in this respect (Vossbrink and Horn 2004). Patch retention standards, no entry zones around selected locations with sensitive plants, greater post-harvest structural retention (i.e. reduced percent basal area removals), and logging during the dormant season are possible alternatives for minimizing impact (Berger et al. 2004). Other researchers have recommended that, despite the best practices of sustainable forestry, reserves may be

necessary to conserve all elements of biodiversity, including sensitive plant species (Poiani et al. 2000).

Although we did not observe many strong relationships between soil properties and understory responses in this study, other studies have documented soil-vegetation relationships (Pregitzer et al. 1983; Hutchinson et al. 1999; Graves et al. 2006). Forest management practices can indirectly affect understory plant communities by influencing the availability of soil nutrients (Gilliam 2002; Fraterrigo et al. 2006). Silvicultural disturbance often leads to loss of soil nutrients through biomass removal and leaching (Johnson et al. 1997; Adams et al. 2000; Grigal 2000). Thus, management approaches similar to those employed in this study that involve increased retention of tree biomass, minimal soil disturbance, and even augmentation of coarse woody debris inputs may have important implications for nutrient cycling and site productivity.

6. Conclusions

In this study, changes in understory plant species diversity and abundance following timber harvest were primarily driven by changes in stand structure, rather than changes in soil properties or moisture availability. Species composition was influenced by both overstory and soil characteristics and did not differ significantly among treatments three years after disturbance. Our results suggest that while conventional, uneven-aged treatments are capable of maintaining understory plant diversity, variations that retain or enhance structural complexity may be more efficient at preserving late-successional species. Over time, increased

microsite heterogeneity as a result of these techniques may also increase understory plant diversity.

This analysis reflects understory response over four years post-harvest and interpretations are therefore limited in scope to the initial recovery period. Continued monitoring of understory vegetation, particularly sensitive species, will help differentiate initial disturbance effects from the effects of residual structure, contributing to a more complete understanding of understory vegetation dynamics following modified uneven-aged forestry practices in northern hardwood-conifer forests.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by grants from the USDA CSREES National Research Initiative, the Vermont Monitoring Cooperative, the Northeastern States Research Cooperative, and the USDA McIntire-Stennis Forest Research Program. We are grateful to Catherine A. Paris of the University of Vermont's Department of Plant Biology, who provided assistance throughout the project. The USDA Forest Service Northern Research Station provided data and Charlotte Jasko assisted with data entry and quality control. Alan Howard of the University of Vermont's Academic Computing Services provided assistance with statistical analyses. We would also like to recognize the outstanding field crews at the University of Vermont for their help with data collection.

Literature Cited

- Adams, M. B., J. A. Burger, A. B. Jenkins, and L. Zelazny. 2000. Impact of harvesting and atmospheric pollution on nutrient depletion of eastern US hardwood forests. Forest Ecology and Management **138**:301-319.
- Aubry, K. B., M. P. Amaranthus, C. B. Halpern, J. D. White, B. L. Woodard, C. E. Peterson, C. A. Lagoudakis, and A. J. Horton. 1999. Evaluating the effects of varying levels and patterns of green-tree retention: Experimental design of the DEMO study. Northwest Science 73:12-26.
- Beatty, S. W. 1984. Influence of microtopography and canopy species on spatial patterns of forest understory plants. Ecology **65**:1406-1419.
- Berger, A. L., K. J. Puettmann, and G. E. Host. 2004. Harvesting impacts on soil and understory vegetation: the influence of season of harvest and within-site disturbance patterns on clear-cut aspen stands in Minnesota. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34:2159-2168.
- Bremner, J. M. 1996. Nitrogen--Total. Pages 1085-1121 in D. L. Sparks editor.
 Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 3. Chemical Methods. Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy, Madison, Wisconsin.

- Brosofske, K. D., J. Chen, and T. R. Crow. 2001. Understory vegetation and site factors: implications for a managed Wisconsin landscape. Forest Ecology and Management 146:75-87.
- Carlton, G. C., and F. A. Bazzaz. 1998. Resource congruence and forest regeneration following an experimental hurricane blowdown. Ecology **79**:1305-1319.
- Curtis, R. O. 1982. A simple index of stand density for Douglas-fir. Forest Science **28**:92-94.
- Dahir, S. E., and C. G. Lorimer. 1996. Variation in canopy gap formation among developmental stages of northern hardwood stands. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 26:1875-1892.
- Davis, M. A., K. J. Wrage, and P. B. Reich. 1998. Competition between tree seedlings and herbaceous vegetation: support for a theory of resource supply and demand. Journal of Ecology 86:652-661.
- Elliott, K. J., and J. D. Knoepp. 2005. The effects of three regeneration harvest methods on plant diversity and soil characteristics in the southern Appalachians. Forest Ecology and Management **211**:296-317.
- Federer, C. A., J. W. Hornbeck, L. M. Tritton, C. W. Martin, R. S. Pierce, and C. T. Smith. 1989. Long-term depletion of calcium and other nutrients in eastern United States forests. Environmental Management 13:593-601.

- Franklin, J. F., D. R. Berg, D. A. Thornburgh, and J. C. Tappeiner. 1997. Alternative silvicultural approaches to timber harvesting: variable retention harvest systems. Pages 111-139 in K. A. Kohm and J. F. Franklin (eds.). Creating a Forestry for the 21st Century: The Science of Ecosystem Management. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Franklin, J. F., and J. A. MacMahon. 2000. Ecology Messages from a mountain. Science 288:1183-1185.
- Franklin, J. F., T. A. Spies, R. Van Pelt, A. B. Carey, D. A. Thornburgh, D. R. Berg,
 D. B. Lindenmayer, M. E. Harmon, W. S. Keeton, D. C. Shaw, K. Bible, and J.
 Q. Chen. 2002. Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example. Forest Ecology and Management 155:399-423.
- Fraterrigo, J. M., M. G. Turner, and S. M. Pearson. 2006. Interactions between past land use, life-history traits and understory spatial heterogeneity. Landscape Ecology 21:777-790.
- Gilliam, F. S. 2002. Effects of harvesting on herbaceous layer diversity of a central Appalachian hardwood forest in West Virginia, USA. Forest Ecology and Management 155:33-43.

- Gilliam, F. S., N. L. Turrell, and M. B. Adams. 1995. Herbaceous-layer and overstory species in clear-cut and mature central Appalachian hardwood forests. Ecological Applications 5:947-955.
- Gilliam, F. S., and N. L. Turrell. 1993. Herbaceous layer cover and biomass in a young versus a mature stand of a central Appalachian hardwood forest.Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 120:445-450.
- Gleason, H. A., and A. Cronquist. 1991. Manual of vascular plants of northeastern United States and adjacent Canada. 2nd edition. The New York Botanical Garden Press, Bronx, NY.
- Goodburn, J. M., and C. G. Lorimer. 1999. Population structure in old-growth and managed northern hardwoods: an examination of the balanced diameter distribution concept. Forest Ecology and Management **118**:11-29.
- Graves, J. H., R. K. Peet, and P. S. White. 2006. The influence of carbon-nutrient balance on herb and woody plant abundance in temperate forest understories. Journal of Vegetation Science 17:217-226.
- Grigal, D. F. 2000. Effects of extensive forest management on soil productivity. Forest Ecology and Management 138:167-185.
- Halpern, C. B. 1989. Early successional patterns of forest species interactions of lifehistory traits and disturbance. Ecology **70**:704-720.

- Halpern, C. B., D. McKenzie, S. A. Evans, and D. A. Maguire. 2005. Initial responses of forest understories to varying levels and patterns of green-tree retention. Ecological Applications 15:175-195.
- Halpern, C. B., and T. A. Spies. 1995. Plant-species diversity in natural and managed forests of the Pacific-Northwest. Ecological Applications **5**:913-934.
- Handel, S. N., S. B. Fisch, and G. E. Schatz. 1981. Ants Disperse a Majority of Herbs in a Mesic Forest Community in New-York State. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 108:430-437.
- Hill, M. O. 1973. Diversity and evenness: a unifying notation and its consequences. Ecology 54:427-431.
- Huebner, C. D., J. C. Randolph, and G. R. Parker. 1995. Environmental factors affecting understory diversity in second-growth deciduous forests. American Midland Naturalist 134:155-165.
- Hughes, J. W., and T. J. Fahey. 1991. Colonization dynamics of herbs and shrubs in a disturbed northern hardwood forest. Journal of Ecology **79**:605-616.
- Hutchinson, T. F., R. E. J. Boerner, L. R. Iverson, S. Sutherland, and E. K. Sutherland.
 1999. Landscape patterns of understory composition and richness across a moisture and nitrogen mineralization gradient in Ohio (USA) Quercus forests.
 Plant Ecology 144:177-189.

- Jenkins, M. A., and G. R. Parker. 1999. Composition and diversity of ground-layer vegetation in silvicultural openings of southern Indiana forests. American Midland Naturalist 142:1-16.
- Johnson, C. E., R. B. Romanowicz, and T. G. Siccama. 1997. Conservation of exchangeable cations after clear-cutting of a northern hardwood forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere 27:859-868.
- Keeton, W. S. 2006. Managing for late-successional/old-growth characteristics in northern hardwood-conifer forests. Forest Ecology and Management 235:129-142.
- Keeton, W. S., C. E. Craft, and D. R. Warren. 2007. Mature and old-growth riparian forests: Structure, dynamics and effects on Adirondack stream habitats. Ecological Applications 17:852-868.
- Kern, C. C., B. J. Palik, and T. F. Strong. 2006. Ground-layer plant community responses to even-age and uneven-age silvicultural treatments in Wisconsin northern hardwood forests. Forest Ecology and Management 230:162-170.
- Kolb, A., and M. Diekmann. 2004. Effects of environment, habitat configuration and forest continuity on the distribution of forest plant species. Journal of Vegetation Science 15:199-208.

- Likens, G. E., C. T. Driscoll, D. C. Buso, T. G. Siccama, C. E. Johnson, G. M. Lovett, T. J. Fahey, W. A. Reiners, D. F. Ryan, C. W. Martin, and S. W. Bailey. 1998.
 The biogeochemistry of calcium at Hubbard Brook. Biogeochemistry 41:89-173.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., J. F. Franklin, and J. Fischer. 2006. General management principles and a checklist of strategies to guide forest biodiversity conservation. Biological Conservation **131**:433-445.
- Mabry, C., D. Ackerly, and G. Fritz. 2000. Landscape and species-level distribution of morphological and life history traits in a temperate woodland flora. Journal of Vegetation Science 11:213-224.
- Macdonald, S. E., and T. E. Fenniak. 2007. Understory plant communities of boreal mixedwood forests in western Canada: Natural patterns and response to variable-retention harvesting. Forest Ecology and Management **242**:34-48.
- Magurran, A. E. 2004. Measuring Biological Diversity. Blackwell Science Ltd., Malden, MA.
- Marschner, H. 1995. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. 2nd edition. Academic Press, London.
- McCune, B., and J. B. Grace. 2002. Analysis of Ecological Communities. MjM Software Design, Gleneden Beach, Oregon.

- McCune, B., and M. J. Mefford. 1999. PC-ORD. Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Data. Version 4.41. MjM Software, Gleneden Beach, Oregon.
- Meier, A. J., S. P. Bratton, and D. C. Duffy. 1995. Possible ecological mechanisms for loss of vernal-herb diversity in logged eastern deciduous forests. Ecological Applications 5:935-946.
- Metzger, F., and J. Schultz. 1984. Understory response to 50 years of management of a northern hardwood forest in upper Michigan. American Midland Naturalist 112:209-223.
- Mika, J., S. Horvath, L. Makra, and Z. Dunkel. 2005. The Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) as an indicator of soil moisture. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth **30**:223-230.
- Mitchell, R., M. Huater, and B. Palik. 2002. Natural disturbance as a guide to silviculture Preface. Forest Ecology and Management **155**:315-317.
- Moola, F. M., and L. Vasseur. 2004. Recovery of late-seral vascular plants in a chronosequence of post-clearcut forest stands in coastal Nova Scotia, Canada. Plant Ecology 172:183-197.
- NCDC. 2007. Climate Division: Temperature-Precipitation-Drought Data. Available from http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/oa/climate/onlineprod/drought/ftppage.html [Accessed 27 April 2007].

- Oliver, J. E., and R. W. Fairbridge, editors. 1987. The Encyclopedia of Climatology. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.
- Poiani, K. A., B. D. Richter, M. G. Anderson, and H. E. Richter. 2000. Biodiversity conservation at multiple scales: Functional sites, landscapes, and networks. Bioscience 50:133-146.
- Pregitzer, K. S., B. V. Barnes, and G. D. Lemme. 1983. Relationship of topography to soils and vegetation in an upper Michigan ecosystem. Soil Science Society of America Journal 47:117-123.
- Ramovs, B. V., and M. R. Roberts. 2005. Response of plant functional groups within plantations and naturally regenerated forests in southern New Brunswick, Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35:1261-1276.
- Reader, R. J. 1987. Loss of species from deciduous forest understorey immediately following selective tree harvesting. Biological Conservation **42**:231-244.
- Rechlin, M., M. Twery, G. Wade, and M. Storey. 2000. The other half of a "Forever Wild" park: education and research at the Adirondack visitor interpretive center. Adirondack Journal of Environmental Studies.
- Roberts, M. R. 2002. Effects of forest plantation management on herbaceous-layer composition and diversity. Canadian Journal of Botany **80**:378-389.

- Roberts, M. R. 2004. Response of the herbaceous layer to natural disturbance in North American forests. Canadian Journal of Botany **82**:1273-1283.
- Rosenzweig, M. L. 1995. Species diversity in space and time. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Great Britain.
- Ruben, J. A., D. T. Bolger, D. R. Peart, and M. P. Ayres. 1999. Understory herb assemblages 25 and 60 years after clearcutting of a northern hardwood forest, USA. Biological Conservation 90:203-215.
- Rubio, A., R. Gavilan, and A. Escudero. 1999. Are soil characteristics and understorey composition controlled by forest management? Forest Ecology and Management 113:191-200.
- SAS Institute Inc. 2003. SAS System for Windows, version 9.1.3. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.
- Schaberg, P. G., D. H. DeHayes, and G. J. Hawley. 2001. Anthropogenic calcium depletion: A unique threat to forest ecosystem health? Ecosystem Health 7:214-228.
- Scheller, R. M., and D. J. Mladenoff. 2002. Understory species patterns and diversity in old-growth and managed northern hardwood forests. Ecological Applications 12:1329-1343.
- Schumann, M. E., A. S. White, and J. W. Witham. 2003. The effects of harvestcreated gaps on plant species diversity, composition, and abundance in a Maine oak-pine forest. Forest Ecology and Management **176**:543-561.
- Seymour, R., A. White, and P. deMaynadier. 2002. Natural disturbance regimes in northeastern North America - evaluating silvicultural systems using natural scales and frequencies. Forest Ecology and Management 155:357-367.
- Seymour, R. S. 2005. Integrating natural disturbance parameters into conventional silvicultural systems: experience from the Acadian forest of northeastern North America. Pages 41-49 in C. E. Peterson and D. A. Maguire (eds.). Balancing ecosystem values: innovative experiments for sustainable forestry. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report PNW-GTR-635.
- Tilman, D. 1993. Species richness of experimental productivity gradients how important is colonization limitation? Ecology **74**:2179-2191.
- Twery, M. J., P. D. Knopp, S. A. Thomasma, H. M. Rauscher, D. E. Nute, W. D.
 Potter, F. Maier, J. Wang, M. Dass, H. Uchiyama, A. Glende, and R. E.
 Hoffman. 2005. NED-2: A decision support system for integrated forest
 ecosystem management. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 49:24-43.
- Vossbrink, J., and R. Horn. 2004. Modern forestry vehicles and their impact on soil physical properties. European Journal of Forest Research **123**:259-267.

- Wade, G. L., J. A. Meyers, C. R. Martin, K. Detmar, W. Mator, M. J. Twery, and M. Rechlin. 2003. Vascular plant species of the Forest Ecology Research and Demonstration Area, Paul Smith's, New York. USDA Forest Service Northeastern Research Station Research Note NE-380.
- Wiegmann, S. M., and D. M. Waller. 2006. Fifty years of change in northern upland forest understories: identity and traits of "winner" and "loser" plant species. Biological Conservation **129**:109-123.
- Wolf, A., and D. Beegle. 1995. Recommended soil tests for macronutrients:
 phosphorus, potassium, calcium and magnesium. Pages 30-38 Recommended
 soil testing procedures for the northeastern United States. 2nd edition.
 Northeastern Regional Publication No. 493. NEC-67. Agricultural Experiment
 Stations of Connecticut, Delaware, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, New
 Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Vermont,
 and West Virginia. Revised December 15, 1995.
- Yurkonis, K. A., and S. J. Meiners. 2006. Drought impacts and recovery are driven by local variation in species turnover. Plant Ecology 184:325-336.

Table 1. Diversity and abundance response variables by treatment for all species and for habitat guilds. Diversity response variables include species richness (N₀), the exponential Shannon diversity index (N₁), and the reciprocal Simpson index (N₂). Abundance is expressed as percent cover. Treatments include group selection (GS), single-tree selection (STS), structural complexity enhancement (SCE) and untreated controls (CON). Values expressed are treatment means (\pm 1 SE) for one year before harvest (pre) and three years after harvest (post). Sample sizes are control: n = 8; SCE, GS, and STS: n = 4.

		GS		S	ГS	S	CE	CON		
		pre	post	pre	post	pre	post	pre	post	
All Spacias	N_0	7.12 (0.68)	7.88 (0.94)	8.04 (0.66)	10.15 (0.76)	8.35 (1.02)	13.85 (1.13)	8.27 (0.58)	7.87 (0.57)	
	N_1	3.63 (0.32)	4.60 (1.17)	3.64 (0.68)	5.60 (1.14)	3.75 (0.68)	6.94 (0.82)	4.12 (0.43)	3.61 (0.54)	
7 III Species	N_2	2.99 (0.24)	3.83 (0.92)	2.91 (0.55)	4.71 (0.93)	3.22 (0.42)	5.53 (0.65)	3.37 (0.3)	2.90 (0.36)	
	% cover	15.35 (2.76)	18.29 (6.60)	22.35 (4.87)	19.41 (4.14)	11.77 (4.40)	19.84 (5.90)	19.32 (0.68)	14.84 (3.11)	
Late_	N_0	11.50 (0.65)	9.75 (1.80)	10.75 (1.60)	17.00 (2.04)	12.50 (2.02)	17.00 (2.04)	12.13 (1.49)	12.25 (1.44)	
successional Species	N_1	2.95 (0.33)	2.89 (0.70)	2.93 (0.57)	3.61 (0.88)	2.80 (0.61)	3.98 (0.67)	3.01 (0.32)	2.64 (0.36)	
	N_2	2.52 (0.23)	2.72 (0.63)	2.50 (0.48)	3.37 (0.84)	2.47 (0.46)	3.62 (0.40)	2.70 (0.28)	2.32 (0.32)	
species	% cover	12.24 (1.57)	7.92 (0.96)	18.65 (2.27)	11.74 (1.69)	6.69 (1.39)	10.33 (1.88)	18.13 (2.57)	12.63 (1.5)	
	ŊŢ	1.75 (0.05)	2 00 (0 41)	0.75 (0.62)	2 25 (0.40)	2.25 (0.05)		2 00 (0 50)	2 00 (0 52)	
	N_0	1.75 (0.25)	2.00 (0.41)	2.75 (0.63)	3.25 (0.48)	3.25 (0.85)	3.75 (0.95)	3.00 (0.50)	3.00 (0.53)	
Intermediate	N_1	1.00 (0.00)	1.03 (0.03)	1.11 (0.05)	1.15 (0.05)	1.21 (0.09)	1.35 (0.12)	1.24 (0.07)	1.19 (0.06)	
Species	N_2	0.47 (0.05)	0.56 (0.10)	0.78 (0.12)	0.79 (0.13)	0.86 (0.20)	1.12 (0.18)	1.01 (0.15)	0.97 (0.12)	
	% cover	0.56 (0.32)	0.15 (0.03)	1.5 (0.95)	0.85 (0.52)	0.91 (0.34)	1.75 (0.73)	1.61 (0.59)	1.49 (0.54)	
	N	2.00(0.41)	3 00 (0 58)	1 50 (0 65)	3 25 (0.48)	200(000)	3 50 (0 20)	1.88 (0.48)	1 50 (0 27)	
Early- successional Species	10	2.00 (0.41)	3.00 (0.38)	1.30 (0.03)	3.23 (0.48)	2.00 (0.00)	3.30 (0.29)	1.66 (0.46)	1.30 (0.27)	
	N_1	1.03 (0.02)	1.50 (0.24)	1.07 (0.05)	1.42 (0.18)	1.04 (0.02)	1.44 (0.10)	1.13 (0.05)	1.02 (0.02)	
	N_2	0.59 (0.08)	1.21 (0.35)	0.34 (0.17)	1.31 (0.19)	0.63 (0.19)	1.30 (0.17)	0.45 (0.14)	0.44 (0.14)	
	% cover	1.32 (0.62)	5.85 (3.46)	0.44 (0.23)	3.60 (1.13)	2.50 (1.75)	3.19 (1.90)	0.48 (0.26)	0.39 (0.18)	

		Treatm	ent*time	0	М	(Ca	Ν	1	-	Р
		F	р	F	р	F	р	F	р	F	р
	N_0	4.58	< 0.001	2.66	0.104	0.04	0.838	1.90	0.169	1.76	0.186
All Species	N_1	3.29	< 0.001	0.07	0.791	0.00	0.971	1.15	0.284	0.00	0.948
in speeres	N_2	2.55	0.004	0.06	0.802	0.53	0.468	0.14	0.705	0.01	0.920
	% cover	3.36	< 0.001	0.48	0.490	0.01	0.906	1.00	0.319	1.93	0.166
T /	N_0	2.73	0.002	0.00	0.976	0.00	0.946	0.02	0.876	0.47	0.496
Late- Successional	N_1	2.02	0.024	0.59	0.442	0.87	0.351	0.53	0.466	2.47	0.117
Species	N_2	1.81	0.047	0.08	0.778	0.23	0.629	0.13	0.721	0.50	0.478
	% cover	3.08	< 0.001	0.46	0.498	1.83	0.177	5.25	0.023	0.93	0.336
	N_0	1.12	0.348	4.55	0.034	0.67	0.414	8.52	0.004	0.43	0.514
Intermediate	N_1	1.52	0.117	11.32	0.001	0.01	0.905	11.26	0.001	0.87	0.351
Species	N_2	1.31	0.217	5.31	0.022	0.18	0.676	4.46	0.036	0.12	0.734
	% cover	0.98	0.467	0.22	0.640	0.28	0.597	1.62	0.204	1.22	0.271
Early-	N_0	3.77	< 0.001	0.12	0.733	0.00	0.987	0.01	0.909	3.22	0.074
	N_1	3.45	< 0.001	1.19	0.276	0.22	0.637	0.05	0.830	2.46	0.118
Species	N_2	2.87	0.001	0.72	0.397	0.00	0.958	0.20	0.652	4.59	0.033
<u> </u>	% cover	3.50	< 0.001	0.43	0.511	1.35	0.247	1.44	0.231	2.58	0.110

Table 2. Linear mixed effects model results for diversity indices $(N_0, N_1, and N_2)$ and percent cover for all species and by habitat guilds.

					Multiple comparisons
		MS	F	р	$(\alpha = 0.05)$
	N ₀	2233	3.75	0.032	SCE > CON
All Spacios	N_1	7175	6.63	0.004	SCE > CON
All Species	N_2	5506	5.32	0.010	SCE, STS > CON
	% cover	6775	3.82	0.031	SCE > CON
	N_0	1842	5.06	0.012	SCE > GS
Late-successional	N_1	1868	5.4	0.009	SCE > CON
Species	N_2	2201	4.67	0.016	SCE > CON
	% cover	5940	9.27	0.001	SCE > CON, GS, STS
	N_0	842	0.37	0.774	
Intermediate	N_1	61.3	1.23	0.333	
Species	N_2	267	1.18	0.350	
	% cover	3479	3.84	0.030	SCE > GS, STS
	N_0	14389	1.92	0.167	
Early-successional	N_1	969	5.12	0.011	GS > CON
Species	N_2	5694	6.06	0.006	STS > CON
	% cover	58694	4.75	0.015	STS > CON

Table 3. ANOVA results of changes in diversity and abundance response variables for all species and for habitat guilds from one year pre-harvest to three years post-harvest. Treatment types include group selection (GS), single-tree selection (STS), structural complexity enhancement (SCE), and untreated controls (CON).

Table 4. Understory species recorded pre-harvest and absent post-harvest. X indicates the species was absent from two or more units of this treatment type for all four post-harvest years. Treatment types include group selection (GS), single-tree selection (STS), structural complexity enhancement (SCE), and untreated controls (CON). Life history characteristics were determined from Gleason and Cronquist (1991), Handel et al. (1981), and Mabry et al. (2000).

	Treatment		Growth form	Fruit type	Dispersal	Habitat preference		
Scientific Name	GS	SCE	STS	CON				
Actaea alba		Х			perennial herb	berry	biotic	late-successional
Adiantum pedatum				Х	fern	spore	abiotic	late-successional
Aralia nudicaulis	Х		Х	Х	perennial herb	drupe	biotic	late-successional
Arisaema triphyllum	Х		Х		perennial herb	berry	biotic	late-successional
Asarum canadense		Х		Х	perennial herb	capsule	biotic	late-successional
Coptis trifolia	Х				perennial herb	follicle	biotic	late-successional
Eupatorium rugosum				Х	perennial herb	achene	abiotic	intermediate
Lonicera canadensis	Х		Х		shrub	berry	biotic	late-successional
Medeola virginiana	Х				perennial herb	berry	biotic	late-successional
Osmunda claytoniana	Х		Х		fern	spore	abiotic	late-successional
Oxalis acetosella		Х			perennial herb	capsule	biotic	late-successional
Panax trifolia				Х	perennial herb	drupe	biotic	late-successional
Polygonatum pubescens		Х			perennial herb	berry	biotic	late-successional
Polygonum cilinode				Х	perennial herb	achene	biotic	intermediate
Pyrola elliptica				Х	perennial herb	capsule	abiotic	late-successional
Sambucus racemosa	Х			Х	shrub	berry	biotic	early-successional
Smilacina racemosa			Х		perennial herb	berry	biotic	late-successional
Trientalis borealis	Х				perennial herb	capsule	biotic	late-successional
Trillium erectum	Х				perennial herb	berry	biotic	late-successional
Viburnum alnifolium		Х			shrub	drupe	biotic	late-successional

Table 5. Kendall's tau correlations (τ) between the ordination axes and site variables. The pre-harvest ordination included data from 1 year before harvest and the post-harvest ordination contained data from 3 years after harvest. Bold values indicate a significant correlation at P < 0.05.

Site		Pre-harvest		Post-harvest			
variable	Axis 1 (44.8%)	Axis 2 (33.2%)	Axis 3 (12.0%)	Axis 1 (38.2 %)	Axis 2 (25.1%)	Axis 3 (12.6%)	
RD	-0.099	0.439	-0.345	0.368	-0.135	-0.170	
OM	-0.072	-0.336	0.072	-0.362	0.441	0.230	
Ca	-0.230	-0.257	-0.112	-0.204	0.520	0.178	
Ν	-0.086	-0.323	0.086	-0.336	0.388	0.283	
Р	-0.165	-0.323	-0.072	-0.283	0.494	0.151	



Figure 1. Relationship of species composition to forest structure and soil variables using nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMS): a) pre-treatment (% of variation in species data: Axis 1 = 44.8; Axis 2 = 33.2), and b) post-treatment (% of variation in species data: Axis 1 = 38.2; Axis 2 = 25.1).



Figure 2. Change in treatment means of overall a) species richness (N_0) , b) the exponential Shannon diversity index (N_1) , c) the reciprocal Simpson's diversity index (N_2) and d) percent cover from one year pre-harvest to four years post-harvest. Data is normalized to one year pre-harvest. Year 3 is used as post-harvest in ANOVAs. Sample sizes are control: n = 8 for all years; SCE: n = 4 for all years; GS and STS: n = 4 for years -1 through 3, n = 2 for year 4.



Figure 3. Change in treatment means of late-successional a) species richness (N_0) , b) the exponential Shannon diversity index (N_1) , c) the reciprocal Simpson's diversity index (N_2) and d) percent cover from one year pre-harvest to four years post-harvest. Data is normalized to one year pre-harvest. Year 3 is used as post-harvest in ANOVAs. Sample sizes are control: n = 8 for all years; SCE: n = 4 for all years; GS and STS: n = 4 for years -1 through 3, n = 2 for year 4.



Figure 4. Fluctuations in the Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) in the Vermont (VT) and New York (NY) study areas from three years pre-harvest to four years post-harvest.

Comprehensive Bibliography

- Adams, M. B., J. A. Burger, A. B. Jenkins, and L. Zelazny. 2000. Impact of harvesting and atmospheric pollution on nutrient depletion of eastern US hardwood forests. Forest Ecology and Management 138:301-319.
- Angers, V. A., C. Messier, M. Beaudet, and A. Leduc. 2005. Comparing composition and structure in old-growth and harvested (selection and diameter-limit cuts) northern hardwood stands in Quebec. Forest Ecology and Management 217:275-293.
- Aplet, G. H., and W. S. Keeton. 1999. Application of historical range of variability concepts to biodiversity conservation. Pages 71-86 in H. C. R. Baydack, and J. Haufler editor. Practical approaches to the conservation of biological diversity. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Aubry, K. B., M. P. Amaranthus, C. B. Halpern, J. D. White, B. L. Woodard, C. E. Peterson, C. A. Lagoudakis, and A. J. Horton. 1999. Evaluating the effects of varying levels and patterns of green-tree retention: Experimental design of the DEMO study. Northwest Science 73:12-26.
- Bazzaz, F. A. 1996. Plants in changing environments: linking physiological, population and community ecology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Beatty, S. W. 1984. Influence of microtopography and canopy species on spatial patterns of forest understory plants. Ecology **65**:1406-1419.
- Bellemare, J., G. Motzkin, and D. R. Foster. 2002. Legacies of the agricultural past in the forested present: an assessment of historical land-use effects on rich mesic forests. Journal of Biogeography 29:1401-1420.
- Benecke, U. 1996. Ecological Silviculture: The application of age-old methods. New Zealand Forestry **41**:27-33.
- Berger, A. L., and K. J. Puettmann. 2000. Overstory composition and stand structure influence herbaceous plant diversity in the mixed aspen forest of northern Minnesota. American Midland Naturalist 143:111-125.

- Berger, A. L., K. J. Puettmann, and G. E. Host. 2004. Harvesting impacts on soil and understory vegetation: the influence of season of harvest and within-site disturbance patterns on clear-cut aspen stands in Minnesota. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 34:2159-2168.
- Boose, E. R., K. E. Chamberlin, and D. R. Foster. 2001. Landscape and regional impacts of hurricanes in New England. Ecological Monographs **71**:27-48.
- Bormann, F. H., G. E. Likens, and J. M. Melillo. 1977. Nitrogen budget for an aggrading northern hardwood forest ecosystem. Science **196**:981-983.
- Bratton, S. P., J. R. Hapeman, and A. R. Mast. 1994. The Lower Susquehanna River Gorge and Floodplain (USA) as a Riparian Refugium for Vernal, Forest-Floor Herbs. Conservation Biology **8**:1069-1077.
- Bremner, J. M. 1996. Nitrogen--Total. Pages 1085-1121 in D. L. Sparks editor. Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 3. Chemical Methods. Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy, Madison, Wisconsin.
- Brokaw, N. V. L., and R. A. Lent. 1999. Vertical structure. Pages 373-399 *in* M. Hunter editor. Maintaining biodiversity in forest ecosystems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Brosofske, K. D., J. Chen, and T. R. Crow. 2001. Understory vegetation and site factors: implications for a managed Wisconsin landscape. Forest Ecology and Management 146:75-87.
- Carey, A. B., B. R. Lippke, and J. Sessions. 1999. Intentional systems management: managing forests for biodiversity. Journal of Sustainable Forestry **9**:83-125.
- Carlton, G. C., and F. A. Bazzaz. 1998. Resource congruence and forest regeneration following an experimental hurricane blowdown. Ecology **79**:1305-1319.
- Christensen, N. L., and F. S. Gilliam. 2003. Temporal and spatial patterns of herbaceous layer communities in the North Carolina Piedmont. Pages 224-237 *in* F. S. Gilliam and M. R. Roberts (eds.). The Herbaceous Layer in Forests of Eastern North America. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.
- Clements, F. E. 1916. Plant succession: an analysis of the development of vegetation. Carnegie Institute of Washington Publication **242**.

- Cogbill, C. V. 2000. Vegetation of the presettlement forests of northern New England and New York. Rhodora **102**:250-276.
- Collins, B. S., K. P. Dunne, and S. T. A. Pickett. 1985. Response of forest herbs to canopy gaps. Pages 218-234 *in* S. T. A. Pickett and P. S. White (eds.). The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic Press, Orlando.
- Collins, B. S., and S. T. A. Pickett. 1988a. Response of herb layer cover to experimental canopy gaps. American Midland Naturalist **119**:282-290.
- Collins, B. S., and S. T. A. Pickett. 1988b. Demographic responses of herb layer species to experimental canopy gaps in a northern hardwoods forest. Journal of Ecology **76**:437-450.
- Collins, S. L. 1990. Patterns of community structure during succession in tallgrass prairie. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club **117**:397-408.
- Connell, J. H., and R. O. Slatyer. 1977. Mechanisms of succession in natural communities and their role in community stability and organization. The American Naturalist **111**:1119-1144.
- Crow, T. R., D. S. Buckley, E. A. Nauertz, and J. C. Zasada. 2002. Effects of management on the composition and structure of northern hardwood forests in Upper Michigan. Forest Science 48:129-145.
- Curtis, R. O. 1982. A simple index of stand density for Douglas-fir. Forest Science **28**:92-94.
- Dahir, S. E., and C. G. Lorimer. 1996. Variation in canopy gap formation among developmental stages of northern hardwood stands. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 26:1875-1892.
- Davis, M. A., K. J. Wrage, and P. B. Reich. 1998. Competition between tree seedlings and herbaceous vegetation: support for a theory of resource supply and demand. Journal of Ecology 86:652-661.
- Davis, M. B. 1996. Extent and Location. Pages 18-34 in M. Davis editor. Eastern oldgrowth forests: prospects for rediscovery and recovery. Island Press, Washington, D.C.

- Duffy, D. C., and A. J. Meier. 1992. Do Appalachian herbaceous understories ever recover from clearcutting. Conservation Biology **6**:196-201.
- Egler, F. E. 1954. Vegetation science concepts I. Initial floristic composition--a factor in old-field vegetation development. Vegetatio **4**:412-417.
- Ehrlich, P. R., and E. O. Wilson. 1991. Biodiversity Studies Science and Policy. Science **253**:758-762.
- Elliott, K. J., and J. D. Knoepp. 2005. The effects of three regeneration harvest methods on plant diversity and soil characteristics in the southern Appalachians. Forest Ecology and Management **211**:296-317.
- Federer, C. A., J. W. Hornbeck, L. M. Tritton, C. W. Martin, R. S. Pierce, and C. T. Smith. 1989. Long-term depletion of calcium and other nutrients in eastern United States forests. Environmental Management 13:593-601.
- Foster, D. R. 1992. Land-use history (1730-1990) and vegetation dynamics in central New-England, USA. Journal of Ecology **80**:753-772.
- Foster, D. R., and E. R. Boose. 1992. Patterns of forest damage resulting from catastrophic wind in central New-England, USA. Journal of Ecology **80**:79-98.
- Foster, D. R., S. Clayden, D. A. Orwig, and B. Hall. 2002. Oak, chestnut and fire: climatic and cultural controls of long-term forest dynamics in New England, USA. Journal of Biogeography 29:1359-1379.
- Foster, D. R., G. Motzkin, and B. Slater. 1998. Land-use history as long-term broadscale disturbance: Regional forest dynamics in central New England. Ecosystems 1:96-119.
- Franklin, J. F., D. R. Berg, D. A. Thornburgh, and J. C. Tappeiner. 1997. Alternative silvicultural approaches to timber harvesting: variable retention harvest systems. Pages 111-139 *in* K. A. Kohm and J. F. Franklin (eds.). Creating a Forestry for the 21st Century: The Science of Ecosystem Management. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Franklin, J. F., and J. A. MacMahon. 2000. Ecology Messages from a mountain. Science **288**:1183-1185.

- Franklin, J. F., T. A. Spies, R. Van Pelt, A. B. Carey, D. A. Thornburgh, D. R. Berg, D. B. Lindenmayer, M. E. Harmon, W. S. Keeton, D. C. Shaw, K. Bible, and J. Q. Chen. 2002. Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example. Forest Ecology and Management 155:399-423.
- Fraterrigo, J. M., M. G. Turner, and S. M. Pearson. 2006. Interactions between past land use, life-history traits and understory spatial heterogeneity. Landscape Ecology 21:777-790.
- Frelich, L. E., and P. B. Reich. 1995. Neighborhood effects, disturbance, and succession in forests of the western Great-Lakes region. Ecoscience 2:148-158.
- Frelich, L. E., and P. B. Reich. 1999. Neighborhood effects, disturbance severity, and community stability in forests. Ecosystems **2**:151-166.
- Fuller, T. L., D. R. Foster, T. S. McLachlan, and N. Drake. 1998. Impact of human activity on regional forest composition and dynamics in central New England. Ecosystems 1:76-95.
- Garfitt, J. E. 1995. Natural management of woods: Continuous cover forestry. Research Studies Press, Ltd., Taunton, UK.
- Gerhardt, F., and D. R. Foster. 2002. Physiographical and historical effects on forest vegetation in central New England, USA. Journal of Biogeography **29**:1421-1437.
- Gilliam, F. S. 2002. Effects of harvesting on herbaceous layer diversity of a central Appalachian hardwood forest in West Virginia, USA. Forest Ecology and Management **155**:33-43.
- Gilliam, F. S., and N. L. Turrell. 1993. Herbaceous layer cover and biomass in a young versus a mature stand of a central Appalachian hardwood forest. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club **120**:445-450.
- Gilliam, F. S., N. L. Turrell, and M. B. Adams. 1995. Herbaceous-layer and overstory species in clear-cut and mature central Appalachian hardwood forests. Ecological Applications 5:947-955.
- Gleason, H. A. 1917. The structure and development of the plant association. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club **43**:463-481.

- Gleason, H. A., and A. Cronquist. 1991. Manual of vascular plants of northeastern United States and adjacent Canada. The New York Botanical Garden Press, Bronx, NY.
- Goebel, P. C., D. M. Hix, and A. M. Olivero. 1999. Seasonal ground-flora patterns and site factor relationships of second-growth and old-growth south-facing forest ecosystems, southeastern Ohio, USA. Natural Areas Journal **19**:12-29.
- Goodburn, J. M., and C. G. Lorimer. 1999. Population structure in old-growth and managed northern hardwoods: an examination of the balanced diameter distribution concept. Forest Ecology and Management **118**:11-29.
- Gore, J. A., and W. A. Patterson. 1985. Mass of downed wood in northern hardwood forests in New Hampshire: potential effects of forest management. Canadian Journal of Forest Research **16**:335-339.
- Graves, J. H., R. K. Peet, and P. S. White. 2006. The influence of carbon-nutrient balance on herb and woody plant abundance in temperate forest understories. Journal of Vegetation Science **17**:217-226.
- Grigal, D. F. 2000. Effects of extensive forest management on soil productivity. Forest Ecology and Management **138**:167-185.
- Grime, J. P. 1977. Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. The American Naturalist **111**:1169-1194.
- Hall, B., G. Motzkin, D. R. Foster, M. Syfert, and J. Burk. 2002. Three hundred years of forest and land-use change in Massachusetts, USA. Journal of Biogeography 29:1319-1335.
- Halpern, C. B. 1988. Early successional pathways and the resistance and resilience of forest communities. Ecology 69:1703-1715.
- Halpern, C. B. 1989. Early successional patterns of forest species interactions of lifehistory traits and disturbance. Ecology 70:704-720.
- Halpern, C. B., D. McKenzie, S. A. Evans, and D. A. Maguire. 2005. Initial responses of forest understories to varying levels and patterns of green-tree retention. Ecological Applications 15:175-195.

- Halpern, C. B., and T. A. Spies. 1995. Plant-species diversity in natural and managed forests of the Pacific-Northwest. Ecological Applications **5**:913-934.
- Handel, S. N., S. B. Fisch, and G. E. Schatz. 1981. Ants Disperse a Majority of Herbs in a Mesic Forest Community in New-York State. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 108:430-437.
- Harmon, M. E., W. K. Ferrell, and J. F. Franklin. 1990. Effects on carbon storage of conversion of old-growth forests to young forests. Science 247:699-702.
- Hill, M. O. 1973. Diversity and evenness: a unifying notation and its consequences. Ecology 54:427-431.
- Hix, D. M., and B. V. Barnes. 1984. Effects of clear-cutting on the vegetation and soil of an eastern hemlock dominated ecosystem, western upper Michigan. Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere 14:914-923.
- Houghton, R. A., J. L. Hackler, and K. T. Lawrence. 1999. The US carbon budget: Contributions from land-use change. Science **285**:574-578.
- Huebner, C. D., J. C. Randolph, and G. R. Parker. 1995. Environmental factors affecting understory diversity in second-growth deciduous forests. American Midland Naturalist 134:155-165.
- Hughes, J. W., and T. J. Fahey. 1991. Colonization dynamics of herbs and shrubs in a disturbed northern hardwood forest. Journal of Ecology **79**:605-616.
- Hutchinson, T. F., R. E. J. Boerner, L. R. Iverson, S. Sutherland, and E. K. Sutherland. 1999. Landscape patterns of understory composition and richness across a moisture and nitrogen mineralization gradient in Ohio (USA) Quercus forests. Plant Ecology 144:177-189.
- Inouye, R. S., and D. Tilman. 1988. Convergence and divergence of old-field plantcommunities along experimental nitrogen gradients. Ecology **69**:995-1004.
- Jenkins, M. A., and G. R. Parker. 1999. Composition and diversity of ground-layer vegetation in silvicultural openings of southern Indiana forests. American Midland Naturalist 142:1-16.

- Johnson, C. E., R. B. Romanowicz, and T. G. Siccama. 1997. Conservation of exchangeable cations after clear-cutting of a northern hardwood forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere 27:859-868.
- Keddy, P. A., and C. G. Drummond. 1996. Ecological properties for the evaluation, management, and restoration of temperate deciduous forest ecosystems. Ecological Applications 6:748-762.
- Keeton, W. S. 2006. Managing for late-successional/old-growth characteristics in northern hardwood-conifer forests. Forest Ecology and Management 235:129-142.
- Keeton, W. S., C. E. Craft, and D. R. Warren. 2007. Mature and old-growth riparian forests: Structure, dynamics, and effects on Adirondack stream habitats. Ecological Applications 17:852-868.
- Kern, C. C., B. J. Palik, and T. F. Strong. 2006. Ground-layer plant community responses to even-age and uneven-age silvicultural treatments in Wisconsin northern hardwood forests. Forest Ecology and Management 230:162-170.
- Kimball, A. J., J. W. Witham, J. L. Rudnicky, A. S. White, and M. L. Hunter. 1995. Harvest-created and natural canopy gaps in an oak-pine forest in Maine. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 122:115-123.
- Kolb, A., and M. Diekmann. 2004. Effects of environment, habitat configuration and forest continuity on the distribution of forest plant species. Journal of Vegetation Science 15:199-208.
- Krankina, O. N., and M. E. Harmon. 1995. Dynamics of the dead wood carbon pool in northwestern russian boreal forests. Water Air and Soil Pollution 82:227-238.
- Leach, M. K., and T. J. Givnish. 1999. Gradients in the composition, structure, and diversity of remnant oak savannas in southern Wisconsin. Ecological Monographs 69:353-374.
- Likens, G. E., C. T. Driscoll, D. C. Buso, T. G. Siccama, C. E. Johnson, G. M. Lovett, T. J. Fahey, W. A. Reiners, D. F. Ryan, C. W. Martin, and S. W. Bailey. 1998. The biogeochemistry of calcium at Hubbard Brook. Biogeochemistry 41:89-173.

- Lindenmayer, D. B., and J. F. Franklin. 1997. Managing stand structure as part of ecologically sustainable forest management in Australian mountain ash forests. Conservation Biology **11**:1053-1068.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., and J. F. Franklin. 2002. Conserving Forest Biodiversity. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., J. F. Franklin, and J. Fischer. 2006. General management principles and a checklist of strategies to guide forest biodiversity conservation. Biological Conservation **131**:433-445.
- Lindenmayer, D. B., C. R. Margules, and D. B. Botkin. 2000. Indicators of biodiversity for ecologically sustainable forest management. Conservation Biology 14:941-950.
- Liu, J. G., and P. S. Ashton. 1999. Simulating effects of landscape context and timber harvest on tree species diversity. Ecological Applications **9**:186-201.
- Lorimer, C. G. 2001. Historical and ecological roles of disturbance in eastern North American forests: 9,000 years of change. Wildlife Society Bulletin **29**:425-439.
- Lorimer, C. G., and L. E. Frelich. 1994. Natural disturbance regimes in old-growth northern hardwoods - Implications for restoration efforts. Journal of Forestry **92**:33-38.
- Lorimer, C. G., and A. S. White. 2003. Scale and frequency of natural disturbances in the northeastern US: implications for early successional forest habitats and regional age distributions. Forest Ecology and Management **185**:41-64.
- Mabry, C., D. Ackerly, and G. Fritz. 2000. Landscape and species-level distribution of morphological and life history traits in a temperate woodland flora. Journal of Vegetation Science **11**:213-224.
- MacArthur, R. H., and E. O. Wilson. 1967. The theory of island biogeography. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ.
- Macdonald, S. E., and T. E. Fenniak. 2007. Understory plant communities of boreal mixedwood forests in western Canada: Natural patterns and response to variable-retention harvesting. Forest Ecology and Management **242**:34-48.

- Magurran, A. E. 2004. Measuring Biological Diversity. Blackwell Science Ltd., Malden, MA.
- Marby, C., D. Ackerly, and G. Fritz. 2000. Landscape and species-level distribution of morphological and life history traits in a temperate woodland flora. Journal of Vegetation Science 11:213-224.
- Marschner, H. 1995. Mineral nutrition of higher plants. Academic Press, London.
- Matson, P. A., and P. M. Vitousek. 1981. Nitrogen mineralization and nitrification potentials following clearcutting in the Hoosier-National-Forest, Indiana. Forest Science **27**:781-791.
- McCune, B., and J. B. Grace. 2002. Analysis of Ecological Communities. MjM Software Design, Gleneden Beach, Oregon.
- McCune, B., and M. J. Mefford. 1999. PC-ORD. Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Data. Version 4.41. MjM Software, Gleneden Beach, Oregon.
- McEvoy, T. J. 2004. Positive Impact Forestry: A Sustainable Approach to Managing Woodlands. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- McGee, G. G., D. J. Leopold, and R. D. Nyland. 1999. Structural characteristics of old-growth, maturing, and partially cut northern hardwood forests. Ecological Applications **9**:1316-1329.
- McIntyre, S., S. Lavorel, and R. M. Tremont. 1995. Plant life-history attributes Their relationship to disturbance responses in herbaceous vegetation. Journal of Ecology **83**:31-44.
- McLachlan, S. M., and D. R. Bazely. 2001. Recovery patterns of understory herbs and their use as indicators of deciduous forest regeneration. Conservation Biology 15:98-110.
- Meier, A. J., S. P. Bratton, and D. C. Duffy. 1995. Possible ecological mechanisms for loss of vernal-herb diversity in logged eastern deciduous forests. Ecological Applications 5:935-946.
- Metzger, F., and J. Schultz. 1981. Spring ground layer vegetation 50 years after harvesting in northern hardwood forests. American Midland Naturalist **105**:44-50.

- Metzger, F., and J. Schultz. 1984. Understory response to 50 years of management of a northern hardwood forest in upper Michigan. American Midland Naturalist **112**:209-223.
- Mika, J., S. Horvath, L. Makra, and Z. Dunkel. 2005. The Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI) as an indicator of soil moisture. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth **30**:223-230.
- Mitchell, R., M. Huater, and B. Palik. 2002. Natural disturbance as a guide to silviculture Preface. Forest Ecology and Management **155**:315-317.
- Mladenoff, D. J. 1990. The relationship of the soil seed bank and understory vegetation in old-growth northern hardwood hemlock treefall gaps. Canadian Journal of Botany-Revue Canadienne De Botanique **68**:2714-2721.
- Moola, F. M., and L. Vasseur. 2004. Recovery of late-seral vascular plants in a chronosequence of post-clearcut forest stands in coastal Nova Scotia, Canada. Plant Ecology 172:183-197.
- Motzkin, G., P. Wilson, D. R. Foster, and A. Allen. 1999. Vegetation patterns in heterogeneous landscapes: The importance of history and environment. Journal of Vegetation Science **10**:903-920.
- NCDC. 2007. Climate Division: Temperature-Precipitation-Drought Data. Available from http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/oa/climate/onlineprod/drought/ftppage.html [Accessed 27 April 2007].
- Noble, I. R., and R. O. Slatyer. 1980. The use of vital attributes to predict successional changes in plant communities subject to recurrent disturbances. Vegetatio **43**:5-21.
- Noss, R. F., and A. Y. Cooperrider. 1994. Saving nature's legacy: protecting and restoring biodiversity. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Nyland, R. D. 1996. Silviculture: Concepts and Applications. McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., New York.
- O'Hara, K. L. 1996. Dynamics and stocking-level relationships of mulit-aged ponderosa pine stands. Forest Science **42**:Monograph 33.

- Oliver, C. D., and B. C. Larson. 1996. Overview of Stand Development Patterns. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.
- Oliver, J. E., and R. W. Fairbridge, editors. 1987. The Encyclopedia of Climatology. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York.
- Palik, B. J., and R. T. Engstrom. 1999. Species Composition. Pages 65-94 in M. Hunter editor. Maintaining Biodiversity in Forest Ecosystems. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Pickett, S. T. A., S. L. Collins, and J. J. Armesto. 1987. Models, mechanisms and pathways of succession. Botanical Review 53:335-371.
- Poiani, K. A., B. D. Richter, M. G. Anderson, and H. E. Richter. 2000. Biodiversity conservation at multiple scales: Functional sites, landscapes, and networks. Bioscience 50:133-146.
- Pregitzer, K. S., B. V. Barnes, and G. D. Lemme. 1983. Relationship of topography to soils and vegetation in an upper Michigan ecosystem. Soil Science Society of America Journal 47:117-123.
- Ramovs, B. V., and M. R. Roberts. 2005. Response of plant functional groups within plantations and naturally regenerated forests in southern New Brunswick, Canada. Canadian Journal of Forest Research **35**:1261-1276.
- Raunkiaer, C. 1934. The life forms of plants and statistical plant geography. Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Reader, R. J. 1987. Loss of species from deciduous forest understorey immediately following selective tree harvesting. Biological Conservation **42**:231-244.
- Rechlin, M., M. Twery, G. Wade, and M. Storey. 2000. The other half of a "Forever Wild" park: education and research at the Adirondack visitor interpretive center. Adirondack Journal of Environmental Studies.
- Ristau, T. E., S. B. Horsley, and L. H. McCormick. 2001. Sampling to assess species diversity of herbaceous layer vegetation in Allegheny hardwood forests. Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society **128**:150-164.
- Roberts, M. R. 2002. Effects of forest plantation management on herbaceous-layer composition and diversity. Canadian Journal of Botany **80**:378-389.

- Roberts, M. R. 2004. Response of the herbaceous layer to natural disturbance in North American forests. Canadian Journal of Botany **82**:1273-1283.
- Roberts, M. R., and F. S. Gilliam. 1995. Patterns and Mechanisms of Plant Diversity in Forested Ecosystems - Implications for Forest Management. Ecological Applications 5:969-977.
- Roberts, M. R., and L. X. Zhu. 2002. Early response of the herbaceous layer to harvesting in a mixed coniferous-deciduous forest in New Brunswick, Canada. Forest Ecology and Management 155:17-31.
- Robertson, G. P., and P. M. Vitousek. 1981. Nitrification potentials in primary and secondary succession. Ecology 62:376-386.
- Rosenzweig, M. L. 1995. Species diversity in space and time. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Great Britain.
- Ruben, J. A., D. T. Bolger, D. R. Peart, and M. P. Ayres. 1999. Understory herb assemblages 25 and 60 years after clearcutting of a northern hardwood forest, USA. Biological Conservation 90:203-215.
- Rubio, A., R. Gavilan, and A. Escudero. 1999. Are soil characteristics and understorey composition controlled by forest management? Forest Ecology and Management 113:191-200.
- Runkle, J. R. 1981. Gap regeneration in some old-growth forests of the eastern United States. Ecology **62**:1041-1051.
- Runkle, J. R. 1982. Patterns of disturbance in some old-growth mesic forests of eastern North America. Ecology 63:1533-1546.
- SAS Institute Inc. 2003. SAS System for Windows, version 9.1.3. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.
- Schaberg, P. G., D. H. DeHayes, and G. J. Hawley. 2001. Anthropogenic calcium depletion: A unique threat to forest ecosystem health? Ecosystem Health 7:214-228.
- Scheller, R. M., and D. J. Mladenoff. 2002. Understory species patterns and diversity in old-growth and managed northern hardwood forests. Ecological Applications 12:1329-1343.

- Schumann, M. E., A. S. White, and J. W. Witham. 2003. The effects of harvestcreated gaps on plant species diversity, composition, and abundance in a Maine oak-pine forest. Forest Ecology and Management **176**:543-561.
- Seymour, R. S. 2005. Integrating natural disturbance parameters into conventional silvicultural systems: experience from the Acadian forest of northeastern North America. Pages 41-49 in C. E. Peterson and D. A. Maguire (eds.). Balancing ecosystem values: innovative experiments for sustainable forestry. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report PNW-GTR-635.
- Seymour, R. S., A. S. White, and P. G. deMaynadier. 2002. Natural disturbance regimes in northeastern North America - evaluating silvicultural systems using natural scales and frequencies. Forest Ecology and Management 155:357-367.
- Smith, T. M., H. H. Shugart, and F. I. Woodward, editors. 1997. Plant Functional Types: their relevance to ecosystem properties and global change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Thomas, S. C., C. B. Halpern, D. A. Falk, D. A. Liguori, and K. A. Austin. 1999. Plant diversity in managed forests: Understory responses to thinning and fertilization. Ecological Applications 9:864-879.
- Tilman, D. 1988. Plant strategies and the dynamics and structure of plant communities. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Tilman, D. 1993. Species richness of experimental productivity gradients how important is colonization limitation? Ecology **74**:2179-2191.
- Turner, D. P., G. J. Koerper, M. E. Harmon, and J. J. Lee. 1995. Carbon sequestration by forests of the United-States - Current status and projections to the year 2040. Tellus Series B-Chemical and Physical Meteorology 47:232-239.
- Twery, M. J., P. D. Knopp, S. A. Thomasma, H. M. Rauscher, D. E. Nute, W. D. Potter, F. Maier, J. Wang, M. Dass, H. Uchiyama, A. Glende, and R. E. Hoffman. 2005. NED-2: A decision support system for integrated forest ecosystem management. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 49:24-43.
- Vossbrink, J., and R. Horn. 2004. Modern forestry vehicles and their impact on soil physical properties. European Journal of Forest Research **123**:259-267.

- Wade, G. L., J. A. Meyers, C. R. Martin, K. Detmar, W. Mator, M. J. Twery, and M. Rechlin. 2003. Vascular plant species of the Forest Ecology Research and Demonstration Area, Paul Smith's, New York. USDA Forest Service Northeastern Research Station Research Note NE-380.
- White, P. S., and S. T. A. Pickett. 1985. Natural disturbance and patch dynamics: an introduction. Pages 3-13 *in* S. Pickett and P. White (eds.). The ecology of natural disturbance and patch dynamics. Academic Press, Orlando.
- Wiegmann, S. M., and D. M. Waller. 2006. Fifty years of change in northern upland forest understories: identity and traits of "winner" and "loser" plant species. Biological Conservation 129:109-123.
- Wilson, E. O., editor. 1988. Biodiversity. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- Wolf, A., and D. Beegle. 1995. Recommended soil tests for macronutrients: phosphorus, potassium, calcium and magnesium. Pages 30-38 Recommended soil testing procedures for the northeastern United States. 2nd edition. Northeastern Regional Publication No. 493. NEC-67. Agricultural Experiment Stations of Connecticut, Delaware, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, Vermont, and West Virginia. Revised December 15, 1995.
- Yurkonis, K. A., and S. J. Meiners. 2006. Drought impacts and recovery are driven by local variation in species turnover. Plant Ecology **184**:325-336.
- Ziegler, S. S. 2000. A comparison of structural characteristics between old-growth and postfire second-growth hemlock-hardwood forests in Adirondack Park, New York, U.S.A. Global Ecology and Biogeography **9**:373-389.
- Ziegler, S. S. 2002. Disturbance regimes of hemlock-dominated old-growth forests in northern New York, USA. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32:2106-2115.
- Ziegler, S. S. 2004. Composition, structure, and disturbance history of old-growth and second-growth forests in Adirondack Park, New York. Physical Geography 25:152-169.